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Abstract 

Minersô Meetings and Mining Boards:  

The Development of Mining Law in Colonial British Columbia, 1858-1867 

 

Thomas Oscar Mills 

 

Minersô meetings were a customary legal practice from California that was imported to British 

Columbia during the Fraser River gold rush (1858). To date, there has been limited recognition of 

this practiceôs influence on the development of British Columbia. The historical works that do 

exist on the subject argue that the practice was not established in the colony owing to the Colonial 

Governmentôs allowance for Mining Boards, a representative institution, by The Gold Fields Act, 

1859. To the contrary, this thesis looks at the different ways that minersô meetings and minersô 

customary law were expressed and adapted to conditions in British Columbia before and after the 

passing of The Gold Fields Act, 1859. It argues that minersô meetings persisted as a political 

practice despite the existence of Mining Boards and that minersô meetings and Mining Boards 

performed different functions in colonial society. Whereas in frontier regions minersô meetings 

were used to organize frontier society and establish mining regulationsðperforming legislative, 

judicial, or executive functions in different circumstancesðand in more developed regions minersô 

meetings adapted and were used by mining communities to influence the decisions of the 

Government, Mining Boards were a representative institution that was mandated by election to 

fulfill a specific purpose. This thesis tracks the history of minersô meetings and Mining Boards 

from 1858 to 1867 ð through such episodes as the Canyon War, McGowanôs War, Cariboo Gold 

Rush, and Grouse Creek War ð and examines how the mining community was in constant 

dialogue ð in turn, cordial and tense ð with the Colonial Government on the subject of the formal 

colonial mining laws.   
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Introduction  

In the spring of 1858, there was a gold rush to the Fraser River in the Pacific North West within 

Hudsonôs Bay Company (HBC) Territory. Tens of thousands of people travelled to the banks of 

the Fraser River from the United States, Canada, and elsewhere, hoping to strike it rich. Most came 

from California and many had participated in the Californian gold rush, almost a decade before. 

As a result, the character of the Californian gold rush and society had a significant influence on 

the way events unfolded in British Columbia.  

Gold mining veterans from California brought their technical expertise to the Fraser River. 

They knew how to prospect and mine placer gold using pans, rockers, and long toms ï wooden 

troughs used to separate waste rock from gold. They were familiar with the central role that access 

to and control of water played in mining. Upon arriving in HBC territory, they immediately set 

about diverting streams and creating ditch companies. They had seen the dramatic change that 

hydraulic mining brought to the industry in California. They knew the customs governing the 

separation of ñbenchò and river diggings. Some were likely familiar with more complex and capital 

intensive forms of mining such as quartz rock and drift or tunnel mining. 

In addition to technical and practical expertise, miners from the south brought their own 

customary law with them to British Columbia, practices which had spontaneously developed in 

California as a way of organizing mining society. The main instrument of this customary law was 

the minersô meeting, a simple assembly of miners which made decisions based on majority vote. 

Minersô meetings were convened to create law and decide on local matters. These meetings took 

on a legislative character, when creating mining rules and regulations, a judicial character, when 

ruling on civil and criminal disputes, and an executive character, when miners used them to 

organize militias and attack groups perceived as threatening. 
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Based on the idea that the common man had the right to create law, minersô meetings were 

political by nature and, from the perspective of colonial administrators, they seemed to threaten 

British sovereignty on the mainland. The high proportion of American citizens and their capacity 

to organize militarily contributed to concerns amongst British officials that the mainland territory 

might be annexed to the United States. The political loyalty of the mining population was suspect, 

especially in light of the relatively recent loss of the Oregon Territory to the United States. But by 

the spring of 1859, concerns about potential annexation of the mainland were subsiding. British 

officials came to the view that the mining population was more interested in mining than annexing 

territory.1 

Minersô meetings are a political practice that is most firmly tied to the Californian gold 

rush. During that event, minersô meetings became the de facto method of regulating gold mining 

and governing mining camps.2 When the Californian gold rush took place, there was no existing 

law on mineral lands and the newly created state had no sitting government to legislate. Beyond 

the military, there was no law enforcement. As 200,000 people flooded into the new state in search 

of gold, men abandoned the army. In the absence of government authority, miners began using 

                                                           
1 Prior to 1846, the Oregon Territory was jointly held by the United States and Britain. The Oregon Boundary Treaty 

established the 49th parallel as the international boundary line. For the events which led to the signing of the treaty see 

F. W. Howay, W. N Sage, and H. F. Angus, British Columbia and the United States: The North Pacific Slope from 

the Fur Trade to Aviation (Toronto: The Ryerson Press, 1942), 120-137, Jean Barman, The West Beyond the West: A 

History of British Columbia (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1991), 32-52, and Margaret A. Ormsby, British 

Columbia: A History (Vancouver: The Macmillans in Canada, 1958), 51-89. For anxiety over a potential American 

annexation of the mainland see Ormsby, British Columbia, 145-146. 
2 In search of the origins of minersô rights and independent legal-political organization, the historian Charles Howard 

Shinn pointed to medieval Germany. Shinn then tracked this tradition through England and the United States. Charles 

Howard Shinn, Mining Camps: A Study in American Frontier Government (New York: Charles Scribnerôs Sons, 

1885), 20-21, 25-36. Alternately, John Phillip Reid viewed the origin as North American, pointing out that those 

crossing the continent, during western expansion, recreated approximations of judicial practices as ways of dealing 

with crime in legally ambiguous territory. As he shows, settlersô judicial responses to crime were based on their 

recollections of how law had functioned in the eastern United States. John Phillip Reid, ñProsecuting the Elephant: 

Trials and Judicial Behavior on the Overland Trail,ò BYU Law Review Issue 2, Article 3 (1977): 327-350. 
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informal assemblies, minersô meetings, which made decisions based on majority rules direct 

democracy to create enough social order and the social stability for gold mining to take place.3 

When this practice was imported to British Columbia, the Colonial Government, despite 

initial concerns, proved to be largely receptive to the mining community and open to being 

influenced by its legal practices on the subject of mining. In addition, the Government was 

sensitive and responsive to public sentiment in mining communities on all types of questions. 

During the early history of British Columbia, the mining community wielded a large degree of 

political influence. 

The Government recognized the technical expertise of the mining community and formally 

granted broad authority over mining matters to Mining Boards, representative bodies that were 

subject to some conditions but which could create local mining law. This was a political 

arrangement that produced a working relationship between the two groups which contributed to 

the development of the mining law and the growth of the colony. 

 

                                                           
3 For a social contract theory which seeks to explain the rationale behind spontaneous local customary law during the 

Californian gold rush see John R Umbeck, A Theory of Property Rights with Application to the California Gold Rush 

(Ames: The Iowa State University Press, 1981). For military officialsô inability to control the situation in California 

see Donald J. Pisani, ñóI am Resolved not to interfere but permit all to work freelyô: The Gold Rush and American 

Resource Law,ò California History 77, no. 4 (1998-99): 123-148. The literature on minersô meetings, camp justice, 

and vigilance committees in California is vast and goes beyond the scope of this thesis. The broad consensus in the 

literature is that minersô meetings and local customary legal practices had a significant influence on the development 

of mining law, social control, and social development in California. For an example in this tradition from early 

positivist historians see Shinn, Mining Camps, and Hubert Howe Bancroft, The Works of Hubert Howe Bancroft. 

Volume XXXVI. Popular Tribunals. Vol. I & II (San Francisco: The History Company, Publishers, 1887). For a social 

history perspective on the legacy of minersô law see Susan Lee Johnson, Roaring Camp: The Social World of the 

Californian Gold Rush (New York: W. W. Norton & Company, 2000). One of the reasons that the influence of 

Californian minersô customary practices has been so clearly established, and widely accepted in the case of California, 

is because, rather than developing a separate body of mineral law, the California State legislature recognized the 

legality of local customary law, as early as 1851. The US Congress recognized the ñforce of local-mining customsò in 

acts passed in 1866 and 1872. Californian minersô customary law was underwritten by both the State and Federal 

Governments, in the United States.  
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After the Californian gold rush (1849) there were two gold rushes to British Columbia: the Fraser 

River gold rush (1858) and Cariboo gold rush (1862). Despite the clear chronological and 

geographical continuity of these events, the influence of minersô customary law on the 

development of British Columbian society and its formal law has seldom been examined. Despite 

the broad recognition that minersô meetings were held in British Columbia and that minersô 

customary legal practices were brought north from California, the major consensus in the literature 

remains that minersô meetings and minersô customary legal practices didnôt become ñestablishedò 

in British Columbia because the Colonial Government created structures, i.e. Mining Boards, 

which prevented these traditions from developing or having any significant influence. 

Early historians of British Columbia viewed evidence of minersô meetings as a curiosity or 

as an example of ñprogress.ò Frederic William Howay wrote of minersô meetings being held on 

the Fraser River during the summer of 1858 when miners had sufficient ñleisureò time to hold 

meetings and ñset themselves to lawmakingò. While having provided a full-length quote of the 

laws created by the miners, Howay dismissed the incident, attributing it to idleness.4 

Writing of the same incident, Walter N. Sage identified the meeting as the ñfirst instance 

of representative governmentò in the colony.5 In a later work, Sage referred to the incident again 

in greater detail, like Howay, providing a full-length quote of the minersô laws. Sage explained it 

as the American minersô reaction to the absence of ñany settled government.ò6 

Isabel Bescoby did not comment on the minersô meetings along the lower Fraser River 

during the summer of 1858 but she did identify the ñCariboo Mining Boardò as an example of an 

                                                           
4 F. W. Howay, British Columbia from the Earliest Times to the Present. Volume II (Vancouver: The S. J. Clarke 

Publishing Company, 1914), 33-34.  
5 Walter N. Sage, ñThe Gold Colony of British Columbia,ò Canadian Historical Review 2 (1921): 356. 
6 Walter N. Sage, Sir James Douglas and British Columbia (Toronto: The University of Toronto Press, 1930), 223. 
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early representative institution: ñ[i]ts duty was to advise the government in all matters concerning 

miners.ò 7 But Bescoby suggested that the Boardôs proposals were ñnot considered carefully by the 

authorities.ò8 

In a collaborative effort, Howay, Sage, and Angus focused specifically on the historical 

relationship between British Columbia and the United States. They wrote in detail on the minersô 

laws created near Fort Yale during the 1858 mining season and compared them to the type of 

meetings that took place in California. The authors pointed out that the miners along the Fraser 

during 1858 were creating laws in contradiction with colonial proclamations and noted that 

Governor Douglas adapted colonial law, to be in line with minersô customary practices.  

Having identified gaps between mining practices and colonial law, the authors then 

asserted that any legal ambiguity came to an end in early 1859 when the allowance for Mining 

Boards, by the Gold Fields Act, 1859, spelled the end of any alternative legal practices. As they 

asserted: ñthe laws enunciated by the proper law-making authority were to govern and not those 

of any body of individuals. The effort to introduce the Californian practice had failed.ò9  

This assertion, that the Mining Board provided an outlet for American style politics which 

quashed the customary practice of minersô meetings in British Columbia, became a persistent and 

influential thread in the literature. According to the authors, Mining Boards also contributed to the 

relatively peaceful nature of the settlement process in British Columbia. The presence of the Gold 

Commissioner, who had powers to quickly settle all complaints, and Mining Boards, which 

                                                           
7 Isabel Bescoby, ñSome Social Aspects of the American Mining Advance into Cariboo and Kootenay,ò (M.A. 

Thesis, University of British Columbia, 1935), 8-9. 
8 Ibid. 
9 Howay, Sage, and Angus, British Columbia and the United States, 157-159.  
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satisfied Californians inherent desire for self-government, resulted in the British Columbian mines 

being free from lawlessness.10 

In a similar vein, Willard E. Ireland posed the question: why is the ñmob violenceò found 

in California not found in British Columbia? He suggested that the hazardous conditions on the 

Fraser discouraged many ñhangers onò. Furthermore, Governor Douglas compromised and 

allowed the law to be influenced by minersô practices in the summer of 1858. But, like Howay, 

Sage and Angus, Ireland wrote that Governor Douglas did not allow the law to be ñoverriddenò. 

Recognizing the desire for representative institutions, Douglas created Mining Boards which 

operated under a Gold Commissioner and were ñconfined to improving conditions in the gold 

fields and not maintaining law and order.ò Matthew Baillie Begbie further helped to ensure the 

establishment of British law and order. In this account, strong individuals slowed and stopped a 

movement, ensuring the establishment of British law. As a result, ñall elements in the population 

came to have a healthy respect for British justice and realized that there was no necessity for the 

ósix shooter,ô the bowie knife, the vigilantes, or the posse in British Columbia.ò11 

R. W. Paul, while comparing the Californian, Australian, and British Columbian gold 

rushes, wrote that ñOld Californiansò established their own rules and regulations on the Fraser 

River and that Governor Douglas adapted to them with some conditions. Echoing Howay, Sage, 

and Angus, Paul wrote that the Governor permitted Mining Boards to regulate mining clams 

ñprovided the Gold Commissioners were allowed to have a hand in the matter henceforth and 

provided each set of local rules was submitted to the Governor for approval.ò And while it was 

                                                           
10 Ibid, 159, 176-177. 
11 Willard E. Ireland, ñBritish Columbiaôs American Heritage,ò Report of the Annual Meeting of the Canadian 

Historical Association 27, no. 1 (1948): 70-71. 
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recognized that miners governed themselves in some instances, criminal law was firmly the 

jurisdiction of the Government.12 

But this argument poses a natural question that is difficult to answer: why would a well-

armed group of miners with their own political and legal practices submit to a distant authority 

which they vastly outnumbered? In search of an explanation, Paul turned to one previously offered 

by Howay: law and order offered under the British Colony was more attractive to Californians 

than frontier lawlessness.13 

On the subject of minersô meetings and Mining Boards, like historians before her, Margaret 

A. Ormsby wrote that Governor Douglas acknowledged local minersô laws on the lower Fraser 

during the summer of 1858. And while recognizing that Governor Douglas adapted to minersô law 

in a specific case, thereafter Mining Boards were to submit their suggestions to the Gold 

Commissioner for approval. Subject to the authority of Gold Commissioners, Mining Boards 

quickly replaced local minersô law. 14 

Comparing the Californian, Australian, New Zealand, and British Columbian gold rushes, 

Jan Nicholson observed that, in the United States, minersô meetings took on the responsibility of 

Government whereas, in the British context, they sought to influence the decisions of 

Government.15 Having drawn this distinction, in the case of British Columbia, Nicholson wrote 

that minersô meetings didnôt become ñestablishedò: ñalthough there were some early minersô 

meetings in British Columbiaé they did not become an established practice.ò16 Nicholson 

                                                           
12 Rodman W. Paul, ñóOld Californiansô in British Gold Fields,ò Huntington Library Quarterly 17, no. 1 (1953): 169-

170.  
13 Ibid, 171. 
14 Ormsby, British Columbia, 161. 
15 Jan Nicholson, ñProcedures and Perceptions of Authority: The Gold Rush Camps of Australia, Canada and the 

United States,ò Public Administration: The Journal of the Australian Regional Groups of the Royal Institute of Public 

Administration 32, no. 4 (December, 1973): 396-397. 
16 Ibid, 402.  
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suggested that harsh climactic conditions, effective ñCanadianò officials, and the threat of 

deportation combined to explain the absence of minersô meetings in British Columbia.17 

G. P. V. Akrigg and Helen Akrigg wrote of minersô meetings in British Columbia that had 

previously gone undocumented in the secondary literature. They acknowledged that a minersô 

meeting took place in mid-January 1859 when Supreme Court Judge Begbie and Colonel Moody 

visited Hillôs Bar and Fort Yale during events which later came to be known as McGowanôs War.18 

Akrigg and Akrigg also wrote of an 1864 ñlaw and order organizationò assembled on Wild Horse 

Creek which included a nominated trial judge and sheriff. This organization was established after 

a man named Walker was killed. Shortly thereafter when Gold Commissioner Haynes arrived in 

the settlement all governing authority was ceded to him.19 While the authors identified new 

examples of minersô meetings, like in previous accounts, minersô meetings quickly gave way to 

colonial authority.  

David R. Williamsô biography of Judge Matthew Baillie Begbie featured more about 

minersô law and its relation to colonial law than any author previous to him. Williams wrote of a 

number of examples of minersô law in British Columbia ð Hillôs Bar (1858), Fort Yale (1858), 

Rock Creek (1859), and Wild Horse Creek (1864)20 ð and wisely pointed out that mining camp 

jury systems and camp justice were the response to a legal vacuum ï not an attempt to usurp 

colonial authority.21 But despite having identified examples of minersô meetings and customary 

law that would seem to throw into question the received wisdom that this tradition had not been 

established in British Columbia, Williams maintained the familiar consensus: minersô law did not 

                                                           
17 Ibid.  
18 George Philip Vernon Akrigg and Helen Brown Akrigg, British Columbia Chronicle, 1847-1871: Gold and 

Colonists (Vancouver: Discovery Press, 1977), 151-152. 
19 Ibid, 311-312.  
20 David Ricardo Williams, The Man for a New Country: Sir Matthew Baillie Begbie (Sydney, B.C.: Grayôs Publishing 

Limited, 1977), 66-67. 
21 Ibid, 87.  
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establish itself in British Columbia because the Gold Fields Act, 1859 allowed for the creation of 

Mining Boards that could create bylaws and regulations which had to be approved by the 

Governor.22 Supporting this view, Williams quoted Begbie who reported miners to be compliant 

with the Gold Fields Act, 1859. An act that Begbie authored and promulgated.23  

In Williamsô account, Begbie was master of the civil law until two mining cases led to his 

authority being challenged and then officially circumscribed: Aurora v. Borealis (1865-1866) and 

Davis v. Aurora (1866).24 Williamsô narrative included events that would appear to be examples 

of minersô meetings and which are difficult to square with the authorôs previous assertion that the 

tradition of minersô meetings did not establish itself in British Columbia. 

Following Davis v. Aurora (1866), because of the uproar over Judge Begbieôs civil rulings, 

the Cariboo Mining Community requested that the civil law be changed to limit appeals to 

questions of law. When this change was accepted by the Governor and later contributed to the 

Grouse Creek War, Mining Board member Cornelius Booth ironically requested that Begbie 

ignore the newly amended law and hear the appeal of the Canadian Company. Williamsô narrative 

of the Grouse Creek War culminated in Justice Needhamôs arbitration in Canadian Co. v. Grouse 

Creek Flume Co. Ltd. (1867).25 

Not unlike Williamsô account, for Barry M. Gough, justice was extended uniformly across 

the colony by Judge Begbie. Californians respected British law which was ñclearly and directly 

expressed.ò Mining Boards were established by the Government to ñregulate the activities of 

minersò. Mining Boards allowed miners to change the mining regulations and they also provided 

                                                           
22 Ibid, 150. 
23 Ibid, 65-67, 150-151. 
24 Ibid, 68-79. 
25 Ibid. 
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a ñvent for minersô complaintsò thereby helping the British in their administration of the 

population.26  

For Hamar Foster, the development of British forms of law and government in British 

Columbia was a conscious reaction against the republican experiment to the south. Mining Boards 

were a ñworkable compromiseò that allowed colonial officials in British Columbia to avoid 

confrontation with the mining population, as seen in the Australian gold rush, as well as the 

abdication of governmental authority, as seen in the Californian gold rush.27 He identified the 

ñparadoxò presented by ñold Californiansò submitting wil lingly to British law and order. And, in 

the absence of a clear explanation, Foster suggested that ñmost people preferred legal courts to 

vigilance committees.ò28 

Like Foster, in a later work, Williams sought to explain the ñpeaceable settlement of British 

Columbia, free of civil strifeò. For him, it was explained by the Colonial Government's legal 

accommodation of the Californian mining element. In other words, when Californians crossed the 

frontier they brought ñvarious forms of self-governmentò with them. The colonial government 

recognized and accommodated this through the Gold Fields Act, 1859 which allowed for the 

creation of Mining Boards. Like Gould, for Williams these Mining Boards ñrepresented 

democracy in action and took some of the steam out of objection to colonial mining policiesò.29 

More importantly, for the purposes of his argument, Williams pointed out that this accommodation 

allowed the Californian miners influence over the civil law but excluded them from influencing 

                                                           
26 Barry M. Gough, ñThe Character of the British Columbia Frontier,ò in British Columbia: Historical Readings, ed. 

W. Peter Ward and Robert A. J. McDonald (Vancouver: Douglas & McIntyre, 1981), 238. 
27 Hamar Foster, ñLaw Enforcement in Nineteenth-Century British Columbia: A Brief and Comparative Overview,ò 

BC Studies no. 63 (Autumn, 1984): 11. 
28 Ibid, 11-12, 15. 
29 David Ricardo Williams, ñThe Administration of Criminal and Civil Justice in the Mining Camps and Frontier 

Communities of British Columbia,ò in Law and Justice in a New Land: Essays in Western Canadian Legal History, 

ed. Louis A. Knafla (Toronto: The Carswell Company Limited, 1986), 215, 222-223.  
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the criminal law. It allowed for the criminal law to remain British.30 This insight then became the 

explanation for the paradox touched on previously by Foster: settlement was peaceful because 

mining camp administration, i.e. mining camp administration of criminal law, was short lived in 

British Columbia.31  

Unlike those before her, Tina Loo brought a post-structural approach to her history of 

colonial British Columbia but, when it came to the subject of minersô meetings and minersô law, 

she did not diverge from the consensus. Like the majority of authors, she acknowledged that the 

tradition of minersô meetings was brought north by miners from California but ñ[i]n British 

Columbia, minersô meetings were replaced by a single assistant gold Commissioner who rendered 

decisions summarily and was armed with powers of enforcement equal to those of the Supreme 

Court.ò32 For Loo, like those before her, this was because the Government created laws that were 

amenable to the mining population, i.e. The Gold Fields Act, 1859 allowed for the creation of 

Mining Boards. These Boards were administered by Gold Commissioners and supposed to 

encourage business and the development of mining.33  

Like Williams, in her narrative of the Grouse Creek War, Loo wrote of events which could 

be interpreted as minersô meetings. Itôs difficult to square this with her earlier assertion that minersô 

meetings were ñreplacedò by Gold Commissioners. Also like Williams, in her narrative of the 

conflict, Loo pointed out that the Mining Board of Cariboo had urged for the change to the law 

which limited Supreme Court appeals to questions of law. In her analysis, Loo found an 

explanation for the conflict in different conceptions of the law: the Cariboo miners had an 

                                                           
30 Ibid, 231. 
31 Ibid. 
32 Tina Loo, Making Law, Order, and Authority in British Columbia, 1821-1871 (Toronto: University of Toronto 

Press, 1994), 61.  
33 Loo, Making Law, Order, and Authority, 61, 117.  
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understanding of the law based in ñcommon senseò whereas government officials had a legal 

bureaucratic understanding and tried to apply law uniformly. An unwillingness to be sensitive to 

local understandings of the law on the part of government officials led to the conflict.34  

Other histories reiterated or conformed to the standard consensus. In their history of gold 

mining in British Columbia, Noel G. Duclos and Blanche Duclos wrote that minersô meetings took 

place until the Government instituted the Mining Boards after which the practice stopped.35 In his 

encyclopedic account of law in the British diaspora, Peter Karsten wrote that, when ñhordes of 

invading minersò entered British Columbia and created their own mining regulations, Governor 

Douglas formalized the practice by creating Mining Boards which were overseen by Gold 

Commissioners.36  Donald J. Haukaôs history of early British Columbian included minersô 

meetings in his retelling of the Canyon War and McGowanôs War. Arguing that British Columbia 

narrowly remained a British possession, minersô meetings, in Haukaôs narrative, were anti-British 

in their political expression.37 

The development of aboriginal history created an important shift in the historical literature 

which came to affect the way historians portrayed minersô meetings.38 In this tradition, Cole Harris 

                                                           
34 Ibid, 122-133. John Phillip Reid disagrees with Looôs explanation based on the idea that Cariboo miners held a 

distinct understanding of the law based in ñcommon sense.ò He writes that minersô law could be as technical and 

ñrule-determinedò as the Common Law. John Phillip Reid, ñThe Layers of Western Legal History,ò in Law for the 

Elephant, Law for the Beaver: Essays in the Legal History of the North American West, ed. John McLaren, Hamar 

Foster, and Chet Orloff (Regina, Saskatchewan: University of Regina, Canadian Plains Research Center, 1992) 61-62 

n.74.    
35 Noel G. Duclos and Blanche Duclos, Packers, Pans, and Paydirt: Prospecting in the Cariboo (Quesnel, B.C.: 

Arthur Duclos, 1995), 43-44. 
36 Peter Karsten, Between Law and Custom: ñHighò and ñLowò Legal Cultures in the Lands of the British Diaspora 

ï The United States, Canada, Australia, and New Zealand, 1600-1900 (New York: Cambridge University Press, 

2002), 45-46.  
37 Donald J. Hauka, McGowanôs War: The Birth of Modern British Columbia on the Fraser River Gold Fields 

(Vancouver: New Star Books, 2003), 35, 46, 77, 85, 150, 176-179.  
38 British Columbian Aboriginal historiography is a vast field of study, a full examination of which goes beyond the 

scope of this thesis. Some important works in this tradition include: Wilson Duff, The Indian History of British 

Columbia: The Impact of the White Man (Victoria: Provincial Museum of British Columbia, 1964), Robin Fisher, 

Contact and Conflict: Indian-European Relations in British Columbia, 1774-1890 (Vancouver: UBC Press, 1992), 

Rolf Knight, Indians at Work: An Informal History of Native Labor in British Columbia 1858-1930 (Vancouver: New 
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retold the history of the gold rush along the Fraser River Canyon from the perspective of aboriginal 

people. Tens of thousands of miners arrived in the land in what was an unprecedented and 

cataclysmic event. They dominated land along the Fraser where the Nlha7kapmx people had lived. 

ñ[Miners] managed themselves and their own dealings with Natives, organizing meetings, electing 

officers on individual bars, and applying and administering their own rules, as they had done in 

California and in camps throughout the west.ò Appearing much more autonomous than in previous 

accounts, miners didnôt take government representatives in the area seriously.39  

Also in this line, Dan Marshall wrote of events along the Fraser River during the spring 

and summer of 1858. For him, the Canyon War, a conflict between miners and aboriginals that 

took place in August of 1858, was an example of the same type of frontier warfare against 

aboriginals that had taken place in the United States.40 In his account, British authority was absent 

along the Fraser River. Minersô created their own rules as they saw fit ï rules which flew in the 

face of Douglasô proclamation and regulations. 41  Like Harris, Marshall emphasized the 

Governmentôs limited influence over the mining population.42 Unlike those before him, Marshall 

identified the ñprominentò influence of Californian practices in the large number of ditch and water 

companies formed along the river, many of which were limited joint-stock companies.43 In his 

account of the Canyon War, minersô meetings galvanized miners against the aboriginal population 

and sought to influence the actions of government.  

                                                           
Star Books, 1996), and John Sutton Lutz, Makuk: A New History of Aboriginal-White Relations (Vancouver: UBC 

Press, 2008).  
39 Cole Harris, The Resettlement of British Columbia: Essays on Colonialism and Geographical Change (Vancouver: 

UBC Press, 1997), 110. 
40 Daniel Patrick Marshall, ñClaiming the Land: Indians, Goldseekers, and the Rush to British Columbia,ò (PhD diss., 

University of British Columbia, 2000), 218-242. 
41 Ibid, 135-136. 
42 Ibid, 138-139. 
43 Ibid, 136-137. 
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Taking a new approach to the subject, Christopher Herbert wrote that forms of local 

governance, including minersô meetings, were institutions meant to preserve ñspecial rights and 

economic privileges for white menò.44 In a broad narrative that drew connections between 

practices of local governance from the Californian gold rush to British Columbia, Herbert pointed 

out that mining communities, while staging public meetings, often called for more active 

involvement of the Government as the result of conflict.45 As he explained: ñThe American miners 

did not want less British authority but more, because a strong colonial government meant they 

could get on with the business of miningò.46  

 

The consensus in the historiography is that minersô meetings did not become established in the 

colony because the Gold Fields Act, 1859 satisfied minersô desire for local government. Because 

of this accommodation on the part of government, British authority was preserved, especially in 

the realm of the criminal law.  

But despite this consensus a review of the history of minersô meetings and Mining Boards 

in British Columbia will show that mining communities persisted in their use of minersô meetings 

after the passing of The Gold Fields Act, 1859 during the major gold rushes which marked the 

colonial period. Miners continued to use minersô meetings to different ends as long as it was 

practical and or politically useful. The arrival of Mining Boards did not spell the end of minersô 

meetings because they were not mutually exclusive political practices. An examination of events 

will show that, as a political practice, minersô meetings proved to be extremely flexible and fluid 

and that the same practice could be turned to different purposes and different circumstances. 

                                                           
44 Christopher Herbert, ñWhite Power, Yellow Gold: Colonialism and Identity in the California and British Columbia 

Gold Rushes, 1848-1871,ò (PhD diss., University of Washington, 2012), 35. 
45 Ibid, 191-192. 
46 Ibid, 192. 
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It has been often asked whether minersô meetings were ñestablishedò in British Columbia. 

This is a question that excludes ï a question that draws a distinction between valid and non-valid 

political practices ï valid and non-valid types of law. This question implies that only when a 

practice is ñestablishedò in formal law is it worthy of consideration ï is it consequential. By posing 

the question in this way, we fall into the trap of distinguishing ñrealò formal law from ñunrealò 

informal law. This rigid approach narrows the treatment of minersô meetings as a historical subject, 

making them noteworthy only when they produced something resembling formal law.  

Only when we remove the question of whether minersô meetings were established do we 

see the many forms that they took in British Columbia ï do we see how pervasive the practice was 

ï do we see how the tradition of minersô law transformed in the specific political context of 

colonial British Columbia to create something new. Of course, there are the ñclassicò examples of 

minersô meetings ï those which produced local mining rules and regulations, civil and criminal 

law. There are the meetings that resembled formal judicial practices at which civil and criminal 

questions were aired. There were also meetings convened to nominate local officials with specific 

powers, such as mining recorder, sheriff, or judge.  

But there are also ñunconventionalò examples of meetings convened to deal with a pressing 

problem. There are examples of meetings held to voice community concerns and articulate the 

communityôs position on a specific issue in the form of a resolution. There are examples of 

meetings held specifically in order to get the attention of the Government, to influence government 

actions, and to change formal laws.  

I take a broad definition of minersô meetings and propose that minersô meetings and 

minersô customary law should be understood as part of minersô culture. It was an aspect of their 
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culture that was sometimes expressed and sometimes not. Nevertheless, it remained a political and 

social strategy of organization that the mining community, at large, retained.   

I approach the subject of the law from the perspective of legal pluralism. I take that law is 

a construction that cannot be distinguished from its social context. Law is not a universal system 

of values, applicable to all cultures ï but instead it is culturally and historically specific.47 While 

rejecting the argument that law provides a more rational and equitable system of justice and 

therefore justifies colonization and conquest, I seek to view the law in historical context in order 

to better understand how it contributed to the specific colonization process that unfolded in British 

Columbia.  

This thesis is influenced by the work of Thomas Stone, legal ethnographer and historian, 

whose research was focused on social organization and minersô justice during the Klondike and 

Alaskan gold rushes. Stoneôs argumentsðthat minersô meetings in the Yukon adapted and 

changed in time, that the practices and sensibilities of minersô meetings influenced police 

administration in the Yukon, and that changes in mining techniques which necessitated a sedentary 

lifestyle coincided with and partially explain the mining communityôs acceptance of formal 

authorityðhave had an important influence on this thesis.48 

 

Miners who held meetings and created their own customary law in British Columbia presumed the 

right to self-govern in the absence of formal authority. They were often working on the frontier, 

                                                           
47 Works in this pluralist tradition that have influenced this work include Jerold S. Auerbach, Justice Without Law? 

(New York: Oxford University Press, 1983) and Lauren Benton, A Search for Sovereignty: Law and Geography in 

European Empires, 1400-1600 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2009). 
48 Thomas Stone, ñThe Mounties as Vigilantes: Perceptions of Community and the Transformation of Law in the 

Yukon, 1885-1897,ò Law & Society Review 14, no. 1 (Autumn, 1979): 83-114, Thomas Stone, ñFlux and Authority 

in a Subarctic Society: The Yukon Miners in the Nineteenth Century,ò Ethnohistory 30, no. 4 (Autumn, 1983): 203-

216, and Thomas Stone, Minersô Justice: Migration, Law and Order on the Alaska-Yukon Frontier, 1873-1902 (New 

York: Peter Lang Publishing, Inc.), 1988.  
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far from settlements, and drew on legal traditions to create rules they could live by in order to 

achieve their goal. They made their own mining regulations, civil and criminal law, and created 

courts to rule over disputes. After mining communities came into dialogue with formal government 

authority, they used these same practices to lobby the Government and have their concerns 

addressed. They saw themselves as a partner in the material development of the country and 

demanded that government address their concerns. 

The practice of minersô meetings continued throughout the colonial period marked by the 

major gold rushes, adapting to the new political conditions in British Columbia. Minersô meetings 

led to the creation of Mining Boards, a representative body of miners which advised the 

Government, but this development did not mark the end of minersô meetings in British Columbia. 

Mining Boards influenced the development of mining law in specific and sophisticated ways. And 

while Mining Boards changed the law, minersô meetings continued to voice community opinion, 

lobby the Government, and existed as a forum for discussion. The mining communityôs political 

strategies allowed it to enter into a dialogue with the Government, partnering in the development 

of a new political order. As the mining community lobbied on its own behalf, using both minersô 

meeting and Mining Boards, the industry grew and mining operations became increasingly 

capitalized. Legal structures were put in place that allowed for the creation of companies which 

could then be financed by shareholders. These companies were seen as necessary to successfully 

mine the deep diggings in northern British Columbia. 

This political partnership between the Government and the mining community was the 

foundation of the colonyôs material and economic development which led to dramatic and 

devastating changes for the aboriginal population of British Columbia. The rapidity of the settler 

expansion, the Governmentôs tenuous grasp on the territory, and the absence of any funds for land 
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purchases, quashing aboriginal title, resulted in the negation of aboriginal title to the land. The 

country was thrown open for settlement. Later, aboriginal reserves were created but these reserves 

were significantly reduced by later administrations, in many cases without consultation.49 

Reflecting the new political order created by the gold rush, the fur trade, upon which 

aboriginal communities had come to rely, was diminished in importance. The HBCôs monopoly, 

seen as standing in the way of settlement and mining, was revoked in 1858. The HBC continued 

to do business in the colony and the fur trade continued but that trade was no longer the regionôs 

principal income generator. Aboriginal people adapted to the new order, in many ways 

successfully, but the future development of the colony was focused on mining and 

settlement.50 Aboriginal people became the target of civilizing missions and the law. The 

criminalization of trading or gifting liquor to aboriginal people was one of the first proclamations 

passed into law by the Colonial Government ï an initiative which had been pioneered by mining 

communities during the Fraser River gold rush.51 

The first section of this thesis is concerned with the political practice of minersô meetings, 

and public meetings held by mining communities, as well as the influence of those activities on 

the Colonial Government, in the Fraser River gold rush period, from 1858 to 1859. The second 

part examines the way that minersô meetings led to the creation of Mining Boards and shows how 

both minersô meetings and Mining Boards influenced the development of colonial law from 1859 

                                                           
49 For the decision to throw open the land for settlement without treaties quashing title see Stuart Banner, Possessing 

the Pacific: Land, Settlers, and Indigenous People from Australia to Alaska (Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard 

University Press, 2007), 195-230. For the creation of aboriginal reserves and their later reduction see Cole Harris, 

Making Native Space: Colonialism, Resistance, and Reserves in British Columbia (Vancouver, UBC Press, 2002), 

136-166, 169-215.  
50 For the impact of the settlement frontier on aboriginal people see Fisher, Contact and Conflict, 175-211. For 

examples of aboriginal people adapting to the new settlement economy see Knight, Indians at Work, and Lutz, Makuk.  
51 Mining communities on the lower Fraser River in 1858 outlawed the trading of liquor to aboriginal people (see 

Chapter 1). The Colonial Government then created a similar law with the 1859 Proclamation titled Penalty for Selling 

Liquor to the Natives in List of proclamations for 1858, 1859, 1860, 1861, 1862, 1863, and 1864 [also 1865]. 
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to 1866. The last section tracks a breakdown in the relationship between the Government and 

elements within the mining community over the interpretation of the law between 1864 and 1867. 

In this event, minersô meetings were utilized as a political strategy when relations between the 

Government became confrontational. In addition, this event contributes to an understanding of the 

different roles performed by minesô meetings and Mining Boards. 
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Chapter 1  

Minersô Meetings During the Fraser River Gold Rush 

In the spring of 1858 a gold rush to the Fraser River took place. Tens of thousands of miners and 

gold seekers travelled by sea from California to Vancouverôs Island. They flooded into the 

settlement of Fort Victoria, creating a tent-city shanty-town that overwhelmed what had been a 

small fur trading post. From this point they crossed the straight to the mainland. If they 

disembarked at the mouth of the Fraser River, there was little to greet them except for thick 

wilderness. Many stubbornly trekked on foot, following the river west and then north, panning for 

gold along the way. Others hired aboriginal people to ferry them up the river in canoes. Still others 

paid for passage by steamship. They might have stopped at one of the small fur trading forts, Fort 

Langley, For Hope, or Fort Yale. Or they could have stopped at one of the promising gravel bars 

and tried their luck. 

Early that spring large placer gold deposits were found south of Fort Yale on what came to 

be known as Hillôs Bar. The banks of the river and adjacent flats swelled with miners looking for 

the next big discovery. Like Fort Victoria, the former fur trading forts of Fort Yale and Fort Hope 

transformed into frontier towns, providing commercial services to the mining population. A 

commercial class developed ï many of whom had taken their lessons from the California gold rush 

and who recognized greater opportunities in commercial ventures than in gold mining.    

The 1858 gold rush quickly centered on Hillôs Bar and Fort Yale and events that had taken 

place in California years before repeated themselves. Businesses were established. Those with 

capital speculated. Water companies tried to control access to water. Individuals and small groups 

prospected with rudimentary methods and equipment. And miners used minersô meetings and 

customary law to create order on the frontier. In the absence of British officials, miners ordered 
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gold mining society much as they had done in California. Mining rules and regulations were 

established by minersô meetings according to customary practices and following popular norms. 

Issues of concern were heard by minersô meetings and enforced by individuals and groups 

organized for that purpose.  

A review of events along the lower Fraser River during 1858 and early 1859 will show that 

minersô meetings were a prominent method of organizing mining society during this period. The 

Colonial Government, not yet established on the mainland, was influenced to a considerable degree 

by minersô legal customs. As miners gathered along the banks of the lower Fraser, they came into 

immediate contact with aboriginal people of the Nlha7kapmx nation who were primarily hunters 

and fishermen.52 Tensions quickly rose between the mining population and these aboriginal 

people. At first, miners tried to assert authority over aboriginal people by creating laws to 

circumscribe their activities. When violence broke out, miners used the organizing principles of 

minersô meetings to assert dominance over aboriginal people as well as Chinese miners. Partially 

in response to the outbreak of violence, the Governor nominated officials to govern the mining 

population. But these officials were not widely accepted. Miners began to use minersô meetings to 

lobby against colonial officials and to challenge their authority. When a dispute over jurisdiction, 

between nominated officials, played into local factionalism, the Government intervened with a 

military force. The mining community took this as an opportunity to further lobby the Government 

by staging a minersô meeting for the visiting Judge and Colonel.  

                                                           
52 Also known as the Thompson River Indians. Their way of life was seasonal. During the winter they lived in small 

villages comprised of underground lodges with roofs made from wood, mats and dirt. In the spring they moved to the 

mountains to hunt and forage. In the summer, they constructed villages along the river where they harvested and cured 

salmon for winter. The fall meant a return to hunting. Social organization was ñlooseò and based around the family 

which wintered together. James Teit, Traditions of the Thompson River Indians of British Columbia (New York: 

Houghton, Mifflin, and Company, 1898). 



 

22 

 

Along the banks of the lower Fraser River, miners used minersô meetings and customary 

law to establish gold mining rules and regulations ï much the same as they had done in California. 

But things evolved differently in British Columbia. As self-organizing mining communities came 

in contact with colonial representatives, they recognized colonial authority, at least nominally. 

Instead of using minersô meetings and traditions of camp justice to organize and govern mining 

communities, they used the methods of minersô meetings ï popular assemblies ï to criticize and 

make demands from the colonial government and its administrators. The political practice of 

minersô meetings adapted to conditions in British Columbia.  

 

The first gold fields regulations for the mainland were written, prior to the Fraser River gold rush, 

in December of 1857 by James Douglas, Governor of Vancouver Island and Chief Factor of HBC 

operations in New Caledonia. The news of gold discoveries on the lower Fraser had made its way 

to California during the winter of 1857 and so Governor Douglas, anticipating a gold rush to the 

Fraser River district in the spring, drafted and proclaimed gold field law for New Caledonia. This 

early proclamation was an attempt to stop the establishment of American-style ñvigilantismò or 

ñlynch lawò on the British claimed mainland, motivated by the fear that American miners and 

settlers might attempt to annex New Caledonia.53  

This move was not without precedent, Governor Douglas had proclaimed gold fields law 

for the Queen Charlotte Islands in 1853, in the midst of excitement over those islandsô gold 

resources,54 and this type of initiative had been seen as falling within the scope of his discretionary 

                                                           
53 Ormsby, British Columbia, 146-147, Barman, The West Beyond the West, 62-64, and Williams, ñThe Administration 

of Criminal and Civil Justice,ò 219. For alleged abuses of American nationals see John Nugent, Vancouverôs Island 

and British Columbia. Message from the President of the United States, Communicating The Report of the Special 

Agent of the United States recently sent to Vancouverôs Island and British Columbia, 35th Congress, 2d Session, 

House of Representatives, 1859.  
54 Barman, The West Beyond the West, 63. The Queen Charlotte Islands are today referred to as Haida Gwaii. 
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powers. Despite this precedent, the 1857 gold fields law was technically illegal. It was a bluff ï it 

was a claim to the mainlandôs gold resources that had no legal basis. 

As Governor of the Colony of Vancouver Island and Chief Factor of the Hudsonôs Bay 

Companyôs operations in New Caledonia, James Douglas had no legal jurisdiction to proclaim law 

for New Caledonia. At the time of the proclamation, legal jurisdiction over New Caledonia was 

defined by the HBC Charter and the parliamentary statutes related to that charter, the Canada 

Jurisdiction Act (1803) and the Regulation of the Fur Trade Act (1821). In fact, legislative 

authority over New Caledonia fell within the scope of the British Parliament. The HBC had been 

tasked with enforcing British law over New Caledonia but it had little interest in enforcing that 

law in its extensive territories. The closest courts, in Upper and Lower Canada, had a limited 

reach.55  

New Caledonia was part of a large legal gray area, a place where informal practices 

prevailed. Despite this, and in light of the probability of a full scale gold rush to the Fraser River 

in the spring of 1858, Governor Douglas created a proclamation in which he declared that anybody 

mining for gold without authorization, in the ñdistricts of Fraser River and of Thompson's River, 

commonly Known as the Quaatlan, Couteau, and Shuswap countriesò, would be prosecuted civilly 

and criminally. Its effect was to claim legal ownership over the mainlandôs gold resources for the 

British Crown. The regulations accompanying this proclamation required miners to buy a license 

if they wished to mine for gold. The price of a license was ten shillings a month and it could be 

                                                           
55 Hamar Foster, ñLong Distance Justice: The Criminal Jurisdiction of Canadian Courts West of the Canadas,ò The 

American Journal of Legal History 31 (1990): 44. For more on HBC ñclub lawò see Tina Loo, ñóClub Lawô and Order 

in British Columbiaôs Fur Trade,ò in Making Law, Order, and Authority in British Columbia, 1821-1871, 18-33 

(Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1994).  
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purchased in Fort Victoria. Claim sizes were not defined but would be regulated by the as yet to 

be nominated Commissioner.56 

The proclamation and regulations were a theoretical framework for an as yet to be defined 

system of laws. By the summer of 1858, after the gold rush was well underway and the lower 

Fraser River was teeming with miners, the regulations were further defined. These new regulations 

established rules around the minerôs license itself. Miners were required to carry their license and 

produce a copy upon demand; it could not be sold or transferred from one person to another. 

Mining operations were not to interfere with the maintenance of roads or access to stores. Miners 

were required to observe Sunday as the Sabbath. Finally, the size of claims was defined: an 

individual claim was defined as 144 square feet; a party of two miners could have a claim 

measuring 288 square feet; three miners could have a claim measuring 432 square feet; and a party 

of four miners was permitted a claim of 576 square feet. Published in the Victoria Gazette, it was 

noted by a columnist that the claim sizes ñwill strike all Californians as exceedingly smallò. 57 

Despite the existence of official mining regulations, on the lower Fraser, miners created 

their own. The Daily Alta California published the laws passed by a minersô meeting held on May 

12th on Hillôs Bar, Fraser River. Claim sizes were defined as twenty-five feet for each person but 

rather than twenty-five feet square, as conceived by the official regulations, this minersô law meant 

twenty-five feet along the river bankôs high water line, or the line established by the height of 

water in the spring. Typically, with claims measured like this, the claim edges would then extend 

perpendicular from this ñbank lineò, or back line, towards the river cutting across the gravel bar. 

The Hillôs Bar regulations included a rule concerned about equality ï restricting miners to one 

                                                           
56 Enclosed Documents. Douglas to Labouchere, 29 December 1857, TNA, 2084, CO 305/8.   
57 ñMinersô Licenses,ò The Victoria Gazette, 30 June, 1858. Also published in Kinahan Cornwallis, The New El 

Dorado; or British Columbia (London: Thomas Cautley Newby, Publisher, 1858), 401-402. 
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claim by preemption and one by purchase, meant to ensure that nobody dominated the region. 

Claims were ñnot considered workableò between May 20th and August 20th. This practice was 

referred to as holding over claims which removed any work requirement in place. The Hills Bar 

regulations set the work requirement as three days. That is as of August 20th, claims must be 

ñrepresentedòðor workedðwithin three days or they were otherwise free to be ñjumpedò ï or 

taken over by other miners. In addition, there was a regulation declaring that any thieves would be 

expelled from Hills Bar and lose their claims and anybody ñinterfering with or molesting any 

Indianò would be punished as ñthe community shall see fit.ò58 

Upriver, at Fort Yale, similar minersô laws were created at a minersô meeting. The laws 

began with a definition of the specific geographical area covered by the laws. Like the Hillôs Bar 

laws, mining claims were defined as twenty-five feet along the river and extending back to the 

bankôs high water mark. There was a rule concerned with equality, limiting miners from holding 

more than one claim. A one-day work requirement every five-days was established. The office of 

recorder was created to keep track of claim registration. The Recorder was required to keep records 

which would be available for public inspection and he would be paid fifty cents to record a claim. 

Claims were declared workable, five days from the creation of the laws.59 

Like the resolutions passed by the Hillôs Bar miners, these rules flew in the face of 

Governor Douglasô 1857 Gold Fields Law. And, like the miners at Hillôs Bar, this community at 

Yale did not reference colonial law when creating their own mining law. Instead, they drew on 

norms established in California to regulate society on the lower Fraser. This community didnôt 

legitimate itself in an external authority. Instead, it assumed its own legitimacy and authority.  

                                                           
58 ñMining Laws,ò Daily Alta California, 8 July 8, 1858. Also published in Lewis J. Swindle, The Fraser River Gold 

Rush of 1858: As Reported by the California Newspapers of 1858 (Victoria: Trafford Publishing, 2001) 92-93.  
59 Cornwallis, The New El Dorado, 402-403. 
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Miners did not arrive in an uninhabited landscape. The Pacific North West was well 

populated with different tribes of aboriginal people. Accounts of the early relations between miners 

and aboriginals on the river vary. Some accounts describe aboriginal people mining gold and 

working alongside white miners. Others point to the opportunity opened up by the arrival of 

newcomers by increasing trade and access to new goods. There is some evidence to suggest that 

relations between miners and aboriginals were relatively peaceful, for a time, after the initial gold 

rush to the region. 

When violence eventually broke out between the two groups, miners responded with the 

same political method they had used to order mining society ï minersô meetings. James Moore 

was one of the first prospectors on Hillôs Bar and a member of the party that had originally 

discovered gold there. According to his memoirs, shortly after the discovery, a group of about 300 

aboriginal people came down to Hillôs Bar and began camping and mining, nearby. This caused 

no problems until an American trading boat arrived, captained by a man named Taylor who had 

no provisions but liquor. Taylor began trading this liquor to the nearby aboriginal people for gold 

dust. According to Moore, the aboriginal people did not truly understand the value of gold and 

Taylor took advantage of this. A lot of drinking followed and the aboriginal party became 

increasingly rowdy, especially at night. 

Concerned about this turn of events, the local miners held a meeting and decided to 

purchase all of Taylorôs cargo at a wholesale price ï an offer he refused. The aboriginal people 

continued to be rowdy, keeping the miners up at night, so the following day the miners held another 

meeting. Determined to put an end to the ñdrunken brawl,ò as Moore called it, they went down, 
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confiscated Taylorôs liquor, and dumped it out on the river bank. Taylor was then ordered out of 

camp.60 

A similar story, dated to roughly the same time period and perhaps describing the same 

events, was reported by the special correspondent to the San Francisco Bulletin. The correspondent 

had made the trip up the river via Fort Langley and Fort Hope to Fort Yale, reporting on conditions 

along the way. At Hillôs Bar he noted a large group of about 200 aboriginal people living and 

working near the miners. According to the correspondent, the miners were annoyed with the local 

aboriginals because they dug in their piles of tailings for dirt to wash. Regardless, the miners ñput 

up with themò in an attempt to ñpromote good feelingsò. At some point, a trader came up the river 

with provisions and liquor which led to some excitement. A confrontation took place in the traderôs 

tent when he pulled a revolver on some aboriginal people which led the latter to go get weapons. 

It looked like there would be a conflict but some ñboatman from San Franciscoò mining nearby 

intervened. They grabbed the traderôs casks of liquor and destroyed them. The ñwhite menò on the 

bar then called a minersô meeting where they passed laws against bringing liquor to the bar and 

against giving liquor to aboriginals. Anyone breaking these laws would be stripped of his 

possessions, including his mining claim, and sent down the river in a canoe without a paddle.61 

From his desk in Victoria, concerned about conditions at the mines and unregulated traffic 

on the Fraser River, Governor Douglas took a few measures. He proclaimed it illegal for boats to 

enter the Fraser River without license from the Hudsonôs Bay Company and tasked the HMS 

Satellite with enforcing the proclamation.62 He also contracted an agreement with the United States 

                                                           
60 James Moore, ñReminiscences,ò BCA, MS E/E/M781. See also James Moore, ñThe Discovery of Gold on Hillôs 

Bar in 1858,ò BC Historical Quarterly 3, no. 3 (1939): 215-220, Hauka, McGowanôs War, 24-36. For minersô law on 

Hillôs Bar see Williams, The Man for a New Country, 66-67 and Sage, Sir James Douglas and British Columbia, 223.  
61 San Francisco Bulletin, 25 May, 1858 in Swindle, The Fraser River Gold Rush of 1858, 86-87.   
62 The justification was that unregulated trading vessels infringed on the Hudson Bay Companyôs rights. But this was 

not correct and, as a result, the proclamation was abolished.  
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Pacific Mail Steamship Company to provide regular transportation between Victoria and ñthe 

Fallsò, a location 130 miles inland from the mouth of the Fraser River. According to this 

arrangement, Douglas stipulated that the steamship company could only bring licensed miners up 

the river.63 

After reporting these measures to Lord Stanley on May 19th Douglas made a trip up the 

river to visit the mines.64 While visiting the mining district, he nominated three officials picked 

from the mining population. George Perrier was appointed Justice of the Peace at Hillôs Bar, 

Richard Hicks as Revenue Officer at Yale, and O. Travaillot as Revenue Officer at Lytton. During 

this tour, Douglas sanctioned the minersô practice of measuring individual claims as twenty-five 

feet along the river and extending to the bankôs high water line, rather than attempting to impose 

the regulations he had published in the Victoria Gazette. By June 10th, Douglas was back in 

Victoria.65 

Despite Douglasô visit and his appointment of officials, the mining and settlement 

community continued to create local law. According to the Daily Victoria Gazette a ñpublic 

meeting of miners and residentsò took place on July 27th because the local liquor trade which was 

ñendangering the lives and property of the people of Fraser Riverò. Declaring the local liquor trade 

contrary to the law of the ñEnglish Governmentò, settlers created rules to control liquor, 

prohibiting its sale in certain areas, and granting themselves the right to punish offenders by 

                                                           
63 Douglas to Stanley, 19 May 1858, TNA, 6667, CO 305/9. 
64 When Douglas left Victoria it was reported on in the Sacramento Daily Union. ñFrom Victoria,ò Sacramento Daily 

Union, 11 June 1858. The published letter is dated 22 May 1858.  
65 Douglas to Stanley, 10 June 1858, TNA, 7828, CO 60/1. Only Hicks was named in the 10 June 1858 letter. More 

details on his voyage to the mines, including the description of a conflict between aboriginals and settlers, were 

included in two letters sent shortly thereafter: Douglas to Stanley, 15 June 1858, TNA, 7830, CO 60/1 and Douglas to 

Stanley, 15 June 1858, TNA, 7829, CO 60/1. All the nominated officials and their titles were listed in a later letter in 

which he reports that he ñestablishedò claim sizes as 25 feet measured along the river. Douglas to Stanley, 26 July 

1858, TNA, 9253, CO 305/9. 
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destroying liquor and exacting corporal punishment. A standing committee was created to enforce 

this law ñuntil the Government sees fit to carry out its own lawsò. The last resolution created by 

this body of miners and residents specifically targeted aboriginal people. It stated that those dealing 

with aboriginals in arms or ammunition would be subject to corporal punishment.66 

The same event was reported by the Sacramento Daily Union but in this version the miners 

were attacked by aboriginal people and the liquor trade threatened a war of extermination. 

On 26th July, great commotion took place at Fort Yale. It was reported that all the Indians at New 

York Bar were all drunk, and had driven the few whites on the bar into one tent, where the latter 

were determined to make a stand, and if worse came to the worst, for all to die fighting like men. 

There were two dead bodies found in the river, presumed to have been murdered by the red devils. 

This news created much excitement, and a public meeting was had of the miners. All these Indian 

troubles were said to have come of selling them liquor, by unprincipled white men which, if not 

prohibited, would lead to a horrible warðone that must end in the end to the extermination of the 

red skins.67 

 

The liquor trade continued to be a source of conflict. Shortly after the creation of local laws 

to control that trade, a group was found trading liquor to aboriginals at Fort Yale. Mr. Walker of 

the Hudsonôs Bay Company, with the support of local mines and settlers, confronted the traffickers 

and began to destroy the liquor in their possession. While doing so, he was attacked. A fi ght 

followed and Walker bit off the attackerôs nose. To Walkerôs supporters, this seemed like a just 

outcome.68 

Problems of enforcement continued. Near Fort Yale, a group of white miners, working near 

the lower end of the canyon, witnessed a ñChinese boatò land and begin selling arms and liquor to 

                                                           
66 When these minersô laws were created, there was no formal law limiting the sale of liquor in the area. The settlersô 

reference to ñthe law of the English Governmentò was a reference to an imagined law. ñLetter from Fort Yale,ò Daily 

Victoria Gazette, 4 August 1858. 
67 ñFurther From the North,ò Sacramento Daily Union, 11 August 1858. See also Swindle, The Fraser River Gold 

Rush of 1858, 210-211. See also Sage, Sir James Douglas and British Columbia, 234. These resolutions were drawn 

up prior to the colonial proclamation prohibiting the sale or gifting of spirituous liquors to aboriginal people, one of 

the first proclamations created by Governor Douglas following the establishment of the colony. ñPenalty for Selling 

Liquor to the Natives,ò 6 September 1858 in British Columbia. List of proclamations for 1858, 1859, 1860, 1861, 

1862, 1863, and 1864 [also 1865]. [British Columbia: s.n., 1866?]. 
68 ñSelling Liquor to the Indians,ò in Swindle, The Fraser River Gold Rush of 1858, 223-224. 
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some aboriginal people. The white miners made an effort to drive off the traders, who sailed away, 

but, wanting to engage in trade, the aboriginal people followed the Chinese traders in canoes and 

coaxed them back to shore while threatening the white miners not to interfere.69  

Acting on the intelligence gathered during his June trip to the mines, Douglas again set 

himself to law making. New regulations were published in the Daily Victoria Gazette on August 

5th. These new regulations provided a legal framework for companies that wished to develop quartz 

mines. It retroactively limited the rights granted by mining licenses, under the 1857 proclamation, 

to alluvial gold, differentiating placer mining from quartz rock mining. Conditions for the mining 

of quartz gold were then defined. Claim sizes ran half a mile along the vein and extended fifty 

yards on either side of that vein. They could be held for three years ï to be renewed at the discretion 

of the Government. Claim holders had rights to timber and adjacent water. Any improvements 

remained the property of the claim holders, even after extinguishment of the claim. Key conditions 

included the submission of a capital bond of ten thousand dollars and the employment of twenty 

workers within six months of opening the claim.70 

The portions of the December 1857 regulations pertaining to alluvial gold were then 

amended to conform with minersô practices. Individual claim sizes were increased from the former 

twelve feet square to twenty-five feet frontage along a creek or ravine. Claims not bordering creeks 

or ravines were to be measured twenty-five feet square. Like the minersô laws, a work requirement 

was set. Miners had to work the claim within ten days after registering it. Miners found working 

claims without having paid the license fee were required to pay double the cost of the fee.71 

                                                           
69 Ibid. 
70 Like the previous Proclamation and Regulations, this August 1858 Proclamation was technically illegal because 

Douglas had no jurisdiction to proclaim law for the mainland. ñNew Mining Regulations on Fraser River,ò Daily 

Victoria Gazette, 5 August 1858. 
71 ñNew Mining Regulations on Fraser River,ò Daily Victoria Gazette, August 5, 1858. 
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With a handful of newly nominated officials on the mainland who had no formal legal 

training, Douglas defined the role of the Assistant Gold Commissioner. Guidelines were sent to 

the newly nominated representatives and a copy was sent to Lytton for approval.72 The Colonial 

Office approved of Douglasô measures but, aware of the delicacy of the situation created by a large 

number of foreign nationals in territory claimed by the Crown, cautioned him from compelling 

miners to take out licenses by force.73 

 

At this point relations between miners and local aboriginals, the Nlha7kapmx nation, descended 

into violence, a conflict that is now referred to as the Canyon War. During this event, violent 

conflict prompted miners to use minersô meetings to organize themselves into military companies. 

These companies then made excursions north of Yale to engage aboriginal people in battle.  

Fisher included the Canyon War as one episode in a longer history of aboriginal-settler 

conflict.74 Harris underlined the importance of the river to aboriginal ways of life and placed the 

origin of the conflict in aboriginal peopleôs displacement from the river.75 Marshall identified the 

Canyon War as an extension of the type of ñIndian fightingò and frontier warfare which took place 

in the United States. According to him, the extent of the conflict was downplayed by Governor 

Douglas.76  For Herbert, the war was about the white settlement communityôs assertion of 

dominance over aboriginal people and Chinese miners.77 

                                                           
72 Enclosed Document. ñInstructions to Assistant Gold Commissioners,ò dated 1 July 1858 in Douglas to Lytton, 30 

August 1858, TNA, 10344, CO 60/1. 
73 Lytton to Douglas, 1 July 1858, TNA, CO 410/1. In his reply, Douglas acknowledges that he should not compel 

miners to take out licenses. Douglas to Lytton, 9 September 1858, TNA, 12177, CO 60/1.    
74 Fisher, Contact and Conflict, 99-100, 147. 
75 Harris, The Resettlement of British Columbia, 109-114. Akrigg and Akrigg also identified the source of the conflict 

as aboriginal displacement from the river. Akrigg and Akrigg, British Columbia Chronicle 1847-1871, 127-130. 
76 Marshall, ñClaiming the Land,ò 199-200, 241-244. 
77 Herbert, ñWhite Power, Yellow Gold,ò 188. 
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In addition to these interpretations, the Canyon War provides clear examples of the 

pervasive influence of minersô meetings on frontier society during the Fraser River gold rush. 

Miners used minersô meetings during the Canyon War as a method of organizing themselves 

against aboriginal and Chinese people ï groups they perceived as threatening. The war 

demonstrates the flexibility of the political practice and clearly shows how white miners used it to 

advance their own interests. Finally, itôs an example of miners using minersô meetings in an 

executive capacity. Much in the same way that a formal government executive would declare war, 

miners decided by popular meeting to declare war against aboriginal people. They then used that 

same method to organize the campaign and decide on strategy. Asserting their own sovereignty in 

symbolic ways, they then created peace treaties with aboriginal people and circumscribed the 

rights of Chinese miners. Asserting their own right to regulate the population and to create war 

and peace.  

Thomas Stone has identified the way that minersô meetings were used to share 

responsibility when a community took law into its own hands with the knowledge that its actions 

were being watched by the outside world. By using minersô meetings, responsibility was diffused 

amongst all members of the group, limiting the possibility of later punishment; they were a 

ñdefense against future liability.ò78 The persistent use of minersô meetings during the Canyon War 

is an example of this phenomenon. By using the meetings for decision making purposes, the 

responsibility for the war was lodged in the group and therefore the Government had limited ability 

to hold any individual responsible.  

The break down in relations between the mining population and local aboriginals took 

place near the end of the summer. It was reported in the Victoria Gazette that large numbers of 

                                                           
78 Stone, ñMounties as Vigilantes,ò 94-95.  
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aboriginal people, roughly 2000, had encamped north of Fort Yale. According to Mr. Smith, an 

expressman reporting to the paper, aboriginal people were blocking miners from ascending the 

river above the canyon. There was a report that a party of Frenchmen, travelling north of the 

canyon, became engaged in a conflict, resulting in the death of two Frenchmen and two aboriginal 

people. An Irish man had also reportedly been attacked and robbed near the aboriginal 

encampment, north of the canyon.79 

According to the latest reports, a battle had taken place near this encampment. The 

aboriginals were defeated, driven away, and their camp destroyed. Ten aboriginals and two whites 

had been killed. At Fort Yale, men were gathered into two companies of 150 men each. These 

companies were travelling north to the scene of the conflict.80 

Shortly thereafter, another man, going by the name of Captain Snyder, wrote a letter to the 

Victoria Gazette with a slightly different account. According to Snyder, the recent increase in 

incidents of violent conflict between miners and aboriginal people led 300 miners to call a meeting 

at Fort Yale on August 16th. There had been reports that 150 miners at nearby Boston Bar had been 

attacked by an unknown number of aboriginal people and that a battle lasting roughly three hours 

had taken place. Seven aboriginal people had been killed and one white man had been wounded. 

The white mining population suspected a nearby group of Chinese miners was supporting the 

aboriginals.81 

The next day another meeting of miners took place but this time it was much larger. 

According to Snyder, 2500 miners were assembled at Fort Yale and 300 to 500 men were 

                                                           
79 ñFrom Fraser River: Indian Difficulties,ò The Victoria Gazette, 20 August 1858. An expressman was responsible 

for transporting gold or currency securely between locations. The name expressman came from the ñexpress carò of a 

train which was traditionally used to store valuables.    
80 ñFrom Fraser River: Indian Difficulties,ò The Victoria Gazette, 20 August 1858. 
81 ñThe Indian Difficulties: Letter From Captain Snyder,ò The Victoria Gazette, 24 August 1858.  
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mobilized. They were preparing to leave the following day to engage the aboriginals in battle. 

Snyder, a leader of one of these companies, wrote with frustration because the local Hudsonôs Bay 

Company employee at Fort Yale, Mr. Allard, refused to lead a company of men. Allard also 

reportedly refused to provide muskets to the miners. Snyder charged the ñEnglish Governmentò 

with not having taken sufficient measures to protect the mining population from aboriginals, while 

asserting the minersô right to protect themselves.82  

Further downstream, the recent outbreak of violence between settlers and aboriginals 

prompted a meeting of the ñminers and residentsò of Fort Hope on August 21st. Those assembled 

at this meeting, presided over by Mr. S. W. Daggett., acting as Chair, and Mr. J. W. Mackenzie, 

acting as Secretary, expressed concern about the recent violence. Some expressed the view that 

the violence had been caused by the local aboriginalsô hostility towards the settler population. 

Hostility which was caused by the Governmentôs and the pressôs sympathetic attitude towards and 

protection of the aboriginal population. This situation was made worse by that populationôs 

possession of weapons. While the mining population had demonstrated self-restraint in the face of 

violent provocations, the aboriginals continued to push the limits. The recent outbreak of violence 

was the inevitable result.83 

Despite this justification, the miners and residents of Fort Hope were concerned that the 

situation was out of control. They called the Governmentôs attention to horrible reports of the 

ñindiscriminate slaughterò of aboriginal communitiesðmen women, and children. They called on 

Governor Douglas to take action and restore peace to the territory.84 

                                                           
82 Ibid. 
83 ñMeeting of Miners and Residents at Fort Hope,ò The Victoria Gazette, 24 August 1858.  
84 Ibid. 
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This concern about the slaughter of aboriginal people and request for the Government to 

establish peace and order was quickly overshadowed by reports of the slaughter of white men. 

These reports came from a German and an American who escaped to Fort Yale, two survivors of 

a battle which had taken place above the Canyon. According to these two survivors, three 

companies of men, under Captains Graham, Snyder, and Yates, left Fort Yale on August 18th. After 

having travelled eighteen miles, Grahamôs company made camp. Snyderôs and Yatesô companies 

continued on. They arrived at an aboriginal encampment and made a peace treaty with the roughly 

two-hundred aboriginals they found there. They then left an explanatory letter for Graham with 

the aboriginalôs Chief and continued on their march. 

The following day, Grahamôs company arrived at the aboriginal encampment. Graham 

received the letter, explaining the peace agreement, and his company then made camp nearby. In 

the middle of the night, to its surprise, Grahamôs company was attacked. The German escaped 

from his tent and crawled over dead bodies to the safety of some nearby bushes. From this hiding 

place, he witnessed the butchering of thirty-eight white men. The American woke up to shouts. He 

then got up to find an aboriginal pointing a gun at his chest. There was a struggle, the gun went 

off, and the American was wounded in the chest and arm.85 

When the survivors reached Fort Yale the miners there became extremely agitated with the 

news and demanded that Mr. Allan, at the HBC Fort, provide them with a case of twenty muskets, 

which he did. Armed with the muskets, the men then positioned themselves above the fort, on the 

approaching trails, anticipating a wave of violent aboriginals.86 

                                                           
85 ñArrival of the Otter: Massacre of Forty-Five Miners by Indians: Meeting of Residents and Miners at Fort Hope,ò 

The Victoria Gazette, 25 August 1858.   
86 ñLetter From Fort Yale,ò The Victoria Gazette, 1 September 1858.  



 

36 

 

The next morning twelve bodies were pulled from the water above Fort Yale, some of the 

bodies were identified as former residents of Yale and well known miners from the United States. 

An inventory of arms and ammunition was taken. Further downriver, these reports excited the 

residents of Fort Hope who held another meeting and tasked a committee with the defense of the 

community. Arms and ammunition from Hope were sent north to Yale. Another committee was 

created by the residents of Hope to travel to Fort Langley with a message from Mr. Walker, the 

HBC company agent, instructing the HBC agent at Langley to send arms and ammunition upriver. 

This committee then continued on to Victoria to report the news to the Governor.87 

Not long after all these measures were taken, it was learned that the reports of the slaughter 

were not true. A more accurate report of what had taken place above Fort Yale came from a man 

named Cook who brought the news to Victoria. According to Cook, only half of the ñsurvivorsôò 

story was true. Grahamôs, Snyderôs, and Yatesô companies had travelled north on August 18th and 

Grahamôs company had stayed behind while Snyderôs and Yatesô companies marched north. As 

had been reported, Snyderôs and Yatesô companies made peace at the aboriginal encampment. 

When Grahamôs company arrived the next day, and learned of the peace, they camped nearby.  

But this is where two stories diverged. Instead of the aboriginals attacking Grahamôs 

company in the middle of the night, Cook reported that a number of aboriginals returned in the 

middle of the night from a hunting expedition. These hunters knew nothing of the peace agreement 

so when they saw the white menôs camp near their own they opened fire, killing Captain Graham 

and his first lieutenant. The aboriginals who knew of the peace agreement intervened and stopped 

the attack but not before the two ñsurvivorsò ran away. Despite the ñsurvivorôsò reports, Grahamôs 

                                                           
87 ñArrival of the Otter: Massacre of Forty-Five Miners by Indians: Meeting of Residents and Miners at Fort Hope,ò 

The Victoria Gazette, 25 August 1858.   
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company, minus Graham and his first lieutenant, was very much intact and planned on continuing 

the march up river.88 

Later, a different account came from Snyder, after his company returned to Fort Yale. 

According to him, the violence between miners and aboriginals prompted the creation of a military 

company on August 16th. A vote was held and he was elected captain.89 His company left the next 

morning and, after having traveled a few miles, Snyder stopped the men, took roll call, and 

proposed they make peace agreements with the aboriginal people they find. If this were not 

possible, they would impose peace by force. He made it clear that his leading the company was 

conditional on the menôs acceptance of this strategy. A vote was held and the strategy was accepted 

so the company continued to march north.90 

Not finding any aboriginals, Captain Snyder and the leader of another company, Captain 

Centras, went with an interpreter down to the river, where they came across an aboriginal with 

who they could communicate. The interpreter explained Snyder and Centrasô intentions and, as a 

result, they were brought to a place where they found seventy aboriginals. At this place, a peace 

agreement was made. Snyder and Centras were then prompted by envoys from a local Chief to 

travel to a second camp of about sixty to seventy aboriginals where they made another peace 

agreement.91 

The other companies, led by Captain Graham and Captain Galloway, met Captain Snyder 

and Captain Centras at this second camp where they discussed their strategy. Graham and 

Galloway wanted to pursue a policy of ñextinctionò, killing all aboriginal men, women, and 

                                                           
88 ñImportant News From Fraser River: The Story of the Massacre of the Forty-Three White Men Untrue,ò The 

Victoria Gazette, 26 August 1858.   
89 Captain Snyder to Governor Douglas, 28 August 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F1617.  
90 Ibid. See also ñAccount of Captain Snyderôs Expedition,ò The Victoria Gazette, 1 September 1858.  
91 Captain Snyder to Governor Douglas, 28 August 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F1617. Also see ñAccount of Captain 

Snyderôs Expedition,ò The Victoria Gazette, 1 September 1858. 
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children, but Snyder could not support this. ñMy heart revolted at the idea of killing a helpless 

woman or an innocent childé [it] was to [sic] horrible to think of.ò At an impasse, Graham and 

Galloway attempted to undermine Snyder by suggesting he propose his strategy before the entire 

crowd of 600 to 700 assembled miners. Snyder accepted the challenge, addressed the crowd, and 

made his case for the perusal of a policy of peace by peaceful methods, if possible, and, if not 

possible, to pursue peace by force. Following his address, a vote was taken which came out almost 

unanimously in favor of his plan. Snyder was given nine cheers by the crowd, and, the following 

morning, thirty-one men joined his company.92 

Snyder and his company then travelled upriver on August 18th. They again met with 

Grahamôs company which had decided to exterminate the aboriginal population but, in pursuing 

this policy, had scared most of the aboriginals up into the surrounding hills. Snyder tried again to 

win Graham over but failed to do so. Instead, Graham agreed to set up camp with his company, in 

order to give Snyder an opportunity to meet with the aboriginals in the higher country and negotiate 

a peace. As a signal, they agreed that if Snyder was successful in making peace, he would send a 

white flag down to Graham.  

The next day, Snyderôs company travelled to a place known as ñChina Barò where he spoke 

with the Chinese miners working there, miners who had been suspected of supplying hostile 

aboriginals with ammunition. Snyder then convened with a group of forty aboriginals, who had 

been identified as the more troublesome group, as well as Chiefs from across the river and above 

the canyon. During these meetings, the aboriginals told Snyder they were upset because they had 

been treated poorly by white men and that their women had been insulted. They were upset but the 

                                                           
92 Captain Snyder to Governor Douglas, 28 August 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F1617. Also see ñAccount of Captain 

Snyderôs Expedition,ò The Victoria Gazette, 1 September 1858. 
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large military company of miners persuaded them to make a peace agreement. With a peace 

agreement in place, Snyder sent a white flag down to Grahamôs company.  

Snyder and Centrasô companies then assembled, making about 160 men, and discussed the 

policy to be adopted towards the Chinese miners, who were still regarded with some suspicion. It 

was decided that this group of Chinese people was guilty of having supplied hostile aboriginals 

with ammunition to attack white miners. The two companies then resolved by popular vote that 

theses Chinese miners must leave the gravel bar where they were working and travel downriver 

for a period of four weeks, until peace was reestablished. Their mining claims would be held for 

them. White men would not be allowed to take up work on this land or ñjumpò these claims.93 

Five men were sent to Grahamôs company with a white flag but Graham did not receive 

the news well. In frustration, he took the flag, threw it to the ground, and stomped on it. Later, in 

the middle of the night, shots were heard and it was discovered that Captain Graham and his first 

lieutenant had been killed. Upon hearing the shots, two men ran to Yale where they reported that 

a massacre had taken place. As an explanation for the shooting, Snyder suggested that some 

aboriginals had witnessed Grahamôs symbolic rejection of the peace and resolved to kill him.94 

After the death of Graham and his first lieutenant, Snyderôs company met with different 

groups of aboriginals with whom he established peace agreements. By August 24th his company 

was extremely short on supplies and as a result was forced to march out of the country. Nearly 

starved, they arrived at Fort Yale on August 25th where Snyder debriefed and discharged the men. 

Five aboriginal Chiefs travelled with Snyder to Fort Yale in order to witness the scope of the white 

settlement on the river.95 

                                                           
93 Captain Snyder to Governor Douglas, 28 August 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F1617. Also see ñAccount of Captain 

Snyderôs Expedition,ò The Victoria Gazette, 1 September 1858. 
94 Ibid. 
95 Ibid.  
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Later memoirs of the conflict were less detailed. Billy Ballou, a well -known transporter 

who had worked on the river during the Fraser River gold rush, remembered the killing of white 

and Chinese miners by aboriginals and that victims had been dismembered and thrown in the river. 

According to Ballouôs retelling, the miners were so upset that they organized themselves into 

military companies and drove the aboriginal people north until they lost track of them.96 William 

Yates, an interpreter, remembered that miners were unhappy about aboriginal attacks. A minersô 

meeting was held and a company was formed. It was decided that envoys would be sent to 

aboriginal chiefs with white flags, to signal that the miners were friendly. As an interpreter, Yates 

participated but, according to his memory, the party with whom he travelled didnôt make a very 

concerted effort. They travelled a short distance from Yale to a place called Chapmanôs Bar before 

turning around. As the company made its way north, miners fell from the ranks to mine along the 

river.97 

In the midst of the Canyon War, when news of the ñmassacreò of miners made its way 

downriver, Douglas organized a military force of thirty-five men and travelled to the mainland in 

order to reestablish ñpeace and good order among the motley population of foreigners.ò98 When 

he arrived at Fort Hope he learned that the ñwarò had already ended. Not wasting his trip, he 

addressed the miners at Fort Hope directly on the development of the country. In his speech he 

pledged the Governmentôs support of the mining population. He explained that the country was 

not officially ñopen for settlementò but that it would be opened eventually. The matter was before 

the British Parliament and would soon be law. But to facilitate immediate settlement he took it on 

                                                           
96 William T. Ballou, ñReminiscences,ò BCA, E/B/B21.2, 12-13.   
97 William Yates, ñReminiscences,ò BCA, E/E/Y2, 15. This is perhaps the same ñYatesò referred to in the ñsurvivorsôò 

and Cookôs accounts. 
98 Douglas to Stanley, 27 August 1858, TNA, 10343, CO 60/1.  

 



 

41 

 

his own responsibility to have Commissioner Hicks lay out a town site at Yale and allowed for 

Hicks to allot grants of farmland, up to twenty acres. Hicks was also given the power to authorize 

the construction of sawmills, ferries, and to open roads.99 

Following the Canyon War, Governor Douglas only redoubled his support of the mining 

population. There was no official investigation and nobody in the mining community was held 

responsible for openly declaring war on people that were, at least nominally, British subjects. 

Marshall has suggested that Governor Douglas was purposely silent about this event in his official 

dispatches to the Colonial Office because third parties such as the Aborigines Protection Society 

had access to his communications and could have used the incident to discredit the British 

Government.100  Furthermore, Governor Douglas could have chosen not to conduct an 

investigation because he had limited recourse against the well-armed and fairly well organized 

mining population. It would have been difficult to find any one individual responsible because 

responsibility for the war had been lodged in the wider community of miners.   

 

Governor Douglas returned to Vancouver Island and Commissioner Hicks reported to him 

regularly. Hicksô early reports suggested that administration of the miners proceeded relatively 

smoothly during the early fall ï the biggest sources of conflict was disputes over claims and some 

grumbling dissatisfaction about mining license fees.101 But by late October, Hicks became 

wrapped up in a dispute over a claim. According to his report, two parties were engaged in a 

dispute over the dividing line between a gravel bar and a bench claim. Attempting to adjudicate, 

                                                           
99 ñAddress of His Excellency the Governor to the Inhabitants at Fort Yale, September 12th, 1858,ò in Early History 

of the Fraser River Mines, ed. Frederick W. Howay, 1-3 (Victoria: The Kingôs Printer, 1926). 
100 Marshall, ñClaiming the Land,ò 241-244. Marshall also suggests that the Canyon War led to the mining 

population embracing British administration, securing British sovereignty of the mainland.  
101 ñLetters from Fort Yale,ò The Daily Victoria Gazette, 28 September 1858. Hicks to Douglas, 14 October 1858, 

BCA, GR 1372, F767. 
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Hicks consulted with Mr. Allard of the HBC and two ñof the oldest Indians on the riverò in order 

to determine the riverôs high water mark.102 Based on their advice, Hicks defined the high water 

mark but one of the disputing parties was upset with the decision. That party insulted the aboriginal 

consultant and, according to Hicks, sought to undermine the Governmentôs authority and set up a 

system of government like that which had existed in California.103 

Upset with Hicks, the aggrieved party organized a minersô meeting the next day in a local 

saloon. Mr. George Furness was elected Chairman and Mr. George Cade acted as Secretary. A 

formal statement was produced, copies of which were given to the Victoria Gazette and Governor 

Douglas. The prepared statement accused Hicks and the residents of Fort Yale of attempting to 

remove miners from their claims. The assembled miners resolved to not recognize Mr. Hicksôs 

authority and, instead, appealed to that of Governor Douglas. They resolved to abide by the laws 

that had created and which Governor Douglas had approved of during his most recent visit to the 

mainland.104 In their view, Hicks was corrupt. Referring specifically to the recent claim dispute 

and his definition of the high water mark, they accused Hicks of being an interested party and of 

having personally benefitted from the decision. They requested that Governor Douglas remove 

Hicks from office and asserted their right to enforce the law and protect their rights by punishing 

offenders.105 

                                                           
102 As previously discussed, the riverôs high water mark was a traditional dividing line between gravel bar claims, 

along the river, and dry diggings or bench claims, on the ñtable land.ò 
103 Hicks to Douglas, 26 October 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F767. 
104 Here they are most likely referring to how Governor Douglasô sanctioned the claim sizes and method of 

measuring claims that the miners had established by minersô meeting.  
105 ñMinersô Meeting at Hillôs Bar,ò The Victoria Gazette, 6 November 1858. Shortly after the publication of the Hillôs 

Bar minersô resolutions in the Victoria Gazette Douglas wrote to the Colonial Office in which he mentions that a 

minersô meeting had taken place. Although, he doesnôt attribute it to the conduct of Hicks but to the ñlimiting of claims 

to the river bar.ò Douglas to Lytton, 9 November 1858, TNA, 549, CO 60/1. As referred to in the resolutions of the 

miners, Douglas had sanctioned the claims sizes allowed by the Hillôs Bar mining laws. Commissioner Sanders later 

complained to Commissioner Brew that the minersô ñspecial code of rulesò on Hillôs Bar was causing him problems. 

Sanders to Brew, 30 April 1859, in The Early History of the Fraser River Mines, ed. Howay, 117-119. 
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In response to this public accusation, Hicks wrote to Governor Douglas declaring that he 

was not using his office for his private benefit. According to Hicks, the ñnotoriousò Ned McGowan 

was the source of the problem. He had been inciting the miners on Hillôs Bar to revolt and defy 

the Government. Hicks accused McGowan of being willi ng to act as a political leader against the 

British if  only enough miners would stand behind him.106 

In another letter, Hicks expressed fear that ñthe Americansò were attempting to have him 

replaced with one of their own. McGowan was again identified as the problem and, along with the 

Hillôs Bar miners, was ñdetermined to resist all authority.ò Captain Snyder was also identified as 

an enemy. Hicks referred to him as a ñhypocriteò who spoke ill of the Government while 

pretending to be an ally. To combat this growing threat, Hicks asked for a military force to maintain 

law and order. His men were ñcompletely harassed day and nightò by this gang of usurpers.107 

Having seen the Victoria Gazetteôs November 6th coverage of the Hillôs Bar minersô 

meeting, Hicks sent another letter to the Governor. He wrote that the minersô meeting was a 

ñfabrication from beginning to end.ò It was all the work of Ned McGowan.108 Later, defending 

himself against the accusation that he had defined the high water line in his own favor, he called 

on Officer Hickson as a witness to his good conduct.109 

In early November Douglas hired a man named Peter Brunton Whannell to act as Justice 

of the Peace for Fort Yale.110 Having learnt of this, Hicks wrote to Douglas expressing gratitude, 

                                                           
106 Hicks to Douglas, 28 October 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F767.  
107 Hicks to Douglas, 1 November 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F767. 
108 Hicks to Douglas, 12 November 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F767. See also Howay, The Early History of the Fraser 

River Mines, 14, n. 42.  
109 Hicks to Douglas, 17 November 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F767. See also Howay, The Early History of the Fraser 

River Mines, 15, n. 45.   
110 P. B. Whannell has his own interesting back story. Originally, he was a participant in the Australian gold rush. 

Working as a warehouse clerk, he started a family in Australia which he abandoned for a young woman with whom 

he began an affair. He and his new partner travelled to British Columbia where he passed himself off as an army 

Officer to Governor Douglas. Based on this false impression, Douglas nominated him as Justice of the Peace.   
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thanking him and commenting that ñhe will certainly relieve me of much labor.ò Whannell arrived 

at Yale on November 17th.111 

At least some amongst the mining population were pleased at the appointment of Whannell. 

A letter to the Gazette dated December 8th, expressed satisfaction at his arrival: 

Capt. Whannell, the Justice of the Peace lately appointed for Fort Yale, has entered on the duties 

of his office, and the relief was great, amongst all hands, to find that he was possessed of a 

knowledge of his duties, and he has already shown a decidedly soldierly manner in the carrying out 

of his duty, which is quite a relief to us in Fort Yale, who have been long on the lookout for some 

one [sic] to make his appearance who does know what he is about. Much bad feeling has been 

created heretofore by the eccentric actions of an hombre, who, from not the most exalted position 

in California, was suddenly elevated to the post of Commissioner here.112 

 

But while some were initially pleased with Whannellôs appointment, others were concerned about 

his behavior. Whannell wore a full cavalry uniform, including a sword, while holding court. It was 

said that he brandished this sword in the street on one occasion and swung it at passersby. A similar 

incident was said to have taken place at a party, sending guests running. Reports like this resulted 

in him being characterized as eccentric.113 

In mid-November, shortly after Whannellôs appointment, an entourage including Governor 

Douglas and Judge Matthew Baillie Begbie travelled to Fort Langley, on the mainland, to formally 

proclaim the creation of the mainland colony. A small ceremony was held in a modest log cabin 

on November 19th. The Governor of Vancouver Island swore in Begbie as the Chief Justice of the 

new Colony of British Columbia and the new Chief Justice, in turn, swore in the Governor of 

                                                           
111 Hicks to Douglas, 1 November 1858 and 17 November 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F767. 
112 ñLetter from Fort Yale,ò The Victoria Gazette, 23 December 1858. The ñhombreò referred to is Hicks. Italics in 

original. 
113 J. Gordon Smith, ñColonial Biographies,ò BCA, MS 383, Box 1, File 14. See also Hauka, McGowan War, 118-

126.  
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Vancouver Island as the Governor of the Colony of British Columbia.114 This brief ceremony 

completed the legal creation of the Colony of British Columbia.115 

By late November Governor Douglas brought the allegations against Hicks to his attention. 

Hicks had been accused of drinking and being drunk in a public gambling house, inappropriate 

behavior for a public officer. Furthermore, there were accusation that Hicks was involved in 

bribery and corruption. Hicks vehemently denied the allegations and, in his defense, accused 

specific groups of miners of conspiring against him in order to ñdeclare this an Independent 

Colony.ò116  

Despite Hicksô character having been thrown into question, the residents of Fort Yale 

signed a petition which was presented to Hicks for delivery to Governor Douglas. The residents 

complained about the minersô license fee. In their view, if the licensing system were strictly 

enforced, it would drive people from the country.117  

 

During the winter, a man was shot dead in Fort Yale and Justice Whannell mishandled the incident. 

An assault that followed shortly thereafter was mishandled by both Justice Whannell and Justice 

Perrier. Rather than cooperating with each other the two Justices competed against each other for 

jurisdiction over the handling of the assault. Elements within the mining community played into 

this factionalism. This incident has since come to be known as McGowanôs War. 

                                                           
114 Matthew Baillie Begbie had been sent to British Columbia specifically for the purpose of acting as Chief Justice. 

Previous to this appointment, he had worked as a Chancery Court Barrister in London. Williams, The Man for a New, 

16-27.   
115 In late August, the British Parliament had passed a law creating the mainland Colony. Great Britain, An act to 

provide for the government of British Columbia: 2 August 1858 (London: Printed by G.E. Eyre and W. Spottiswoode, 

1858).  
116 Hicks to Douglas, 24 November 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F767. 
117 ñPetition from the miners of Fort Yale to Mr. Hicks to be presented to Gov. Douglas dated Fort Yale December 

3rd 1858,ò BCA, GR 1372, F1342, Petitions. 
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McGowanôs War has become an essential episode in British Columbiaôs colonial narrative. 

Originally for Howay, Ned McGowan was to blame. He was a criminal and subversive force that 

was suppressed by duly constituted authority in the form of Colonel Moody, Judge Begbie, and 

the Royal Engineers.118 But Howay later found Justice Perrier and Justice Whannell, as well as 

Ned McGowan, as having contributed to the ñopera-bouffeò war.119 Similarly, Miller wrote an 

account of the conflict in which the American miners were testing the limits of the British 

authorities who then imposed British law by military force.120 For Williams, the conflict was 

caused by ñfoolishò Justices of the Peace and factionalism within the mining community.121 In 

Akrigg and Akriggôs account, McGowan had been attempting to intimidate and gain power over 

the local Justices of the Peace which prompted the military intervention. They opened the 

possibility that the intervention could have led to a violent conflict.122 Similarly, Hauka portrayed 

this event as a tipping point which could have led to the annexation of British Columbia by the 

United States.123 Loo read McGowanôs War as an allegory for the type of order settlers wanted to 

create in British Columbia: a strong interventionist state that used the law to overcome the 

countryôs challenging geography and the localism it engendered.124  

In addition to these interpretations, McGowanôs War provides a clear example of the 

mining community using minersô meetings to influence and petition the Government. As 

Nicholson has observed: while minersô meetings took on the function of Government in California, 

in the British colonies they were used to influence the Government.125 When Judge Begbie and 

                                                           
118 Howay, British Columbia, 61-65.  
119 Howay, The Early History of the Fraser River Mines, vii -xvii .  
120 E. F. Miller, McGowanôs War (Don Mills, Ont.: Burns & MacEachern, 1968). 
121 Williams, The Man for a New Country, 91-96. 
122 Akrigg and Akrigg, British Columbia Chronicle, 145-153. 
123 Hauka relies heavily on McGowanôs own narrative account in his retelling. Hauka, McGowanôs War, 134-145. 
124 Loo, Making Law, Order, and Authority, 54-57.  
125 Nicholson, ñProcedures and Perceptions of Authority,ò 396-397. 
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Colonel Moody arrived at Fort Yale with a force of Royal Engineers, the message was clear: they 

had come to secure British authority over the settlement. But, not to be intimidated, elements 

within the mining community responded by organizing their own ñforceò and inviting Judge 

Begbie and Colonel Moody to a minersô meeting at which they were presented with the minersô 

version of events and at which Justice Whannell was harangued for his misconduct. Following 

Moodyôs investigation, Begbieôs report to Governor Douglas included recommendations that 

diverged little from the perspective of the minersô committee.     

During a Christmas celebration on December 24th, in a Fort Yale saloon, there was a dispute 

that led to Billy Foster shooting and killing Bernard Rice. Foster then fled the town. Unable to 

capture Foster, Justice Whannell arrested and imprisoned the saloon owner, John Anderson, and 

his employee, Allmeyer. Whannell then set bail for them at $10,000 and $1,500, respectively. 

Anderson put up his saloon as a bond but Allmeyer had nothing to post bail so he remained in the 

prison. Whannell then hired special constables and closed Yaleôs drinking establishments. He 

posted a $100 reward for Foster. 

Shortly thereafter, tensions were heightened when two men named Farrell and Burns from 

Hillôs Bar attacked Yaleôs town barber, Isaac Dixon, an African American man.126 Dixon filed a 

complaint with Whannell who took the unorthodox decision to hold him in the Yale prison for his 

own protection. He then sent two constables to Hillôs Bar to arrest Farrell and Burns. Arriving at 

Hillôs Bar, the two constables presented their warrants to Justice Perrier who decided to enforce 

the warrants himself. Perrier gave the warrants for Farrell and Burnsô arrest to his own constable, 

Henry Hickson.  

                                                           
126 Hauka, McGowanôs War, 136-139, writes that this assault took taken place at a Christmas dance but in ñThe Hillôs 

Bar Difficulties,ò The Victoria Gazette, 15 January 1859, Hickson cites the assault as having taken place in Dixonôs 

barber shop.  
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Constable Hickson managed to apprehend Farrell and Burns who were then brought before 

Justice Perrier. In consultation with Ned McGowan, Perrier let them out on bail. Wanting to 

investigate the matter further, Perrier sent Hickson to Yale to get Dixonôs testimony. By this time, 

Dixon had been let out of the Yale prison and when Hickson arrived, by chance, he happened upon 

Dixon in the street. He asked Dixon to return with him to Hillôs Bar to testify before Justice Perrier 

but before doing so Dixon wanted to verify the course of action with Justice Whannell. So 

Constable Hickson and Isaac Dixon went to speak with Justice Whannell, finding him in the Yale 

Court House. When the plan was explained to Whannell, he refused to allow Dixon to leave and 

instead demanded that the two accused men, Farrell and Burns, be sent to Yale. He ordered 

Hickson to go and collect Farrell and Burns but Hickson was not Whannellôs constable so he 

refused. Frustrated, Whannell charged Hickson with contempt of court and imprisoned him as well 

as Dixon in the Yale prison along with Allmeyer who was still there for having witnessed the 

shooting of Rice. 

Informed of the arrest of his constable, Justice Perrier swore in Ned McGowan and ten 

others as special constables and commissioned them with arresting Justice Whannell for contempt 

of court. McGowan and his group went to Yale, entered the courthouse, and arrested Justice 

Whannell. They freed Constable Hickson, Isaac Dixon, and Allmeyer from the Yale prison. They 

then brought Justice Whannell before Justice Perrier at Hillôs Bar where he was charged with 

ñcontempt of courtò and sentenced to a fine of $50 plus costs. His pride wounded, Whannell 

returned to Yale where he wrote to Captain Grant of the Royal Engineers, at Fort Langley, 

requesting military aid. He also wrote to Governor Douglas, at Victoria, painting a dramatic 
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picture: ñ[t]his town and district are in a state bordering on anarchy; my own and the lives of the 

citizens, are in immanent peril. ï I beg your Excellency will afford us prompt aid.ò127 

 Having received this alarming letter, Governor Douglas immediately organized the 

military forces at his disposal. A force of sailors and marines was mustered from the Satellite and 

was sent to Fort Langley. At the same time, Colonel Moody, Judge Begbie, and a detachment of 

twenty-two Royal Engineers left Fort Langley on the Enterprise for Fort Hope.  

After arriving at Fort Hope, Colonel Moody chose to go up to Fort Yale with Judge Begbie 

unaccompanied by the Royal Engineers, reasoning they would be less likely to provoke resistance, 

if they arrived without an armed force. They made their way up the river stopping to discuss mining 

prospects with miners they met along the way which allowed for word to spread back to Yale that 

the two officials were approaching without a military force. 

This tactic worked. There was no resistance when Colonel Moody and Judge Begbie 

arrived at Fort Yale. On Sunday January 16th, Moody conducted the religious service in the 

Courthouse after which he informed Justice Perrier that he had been removed from his position. 

Instructions were then clandestinely sent to the Royal Engineers to establish camp at Fort Yale by 

the following morning. At the same time, the sailors and marines at Fort Langley were instructed 

to move to Fort Hope. During the cover of night, the Royal Engineers arrived at Fort Yale and set 

up camp. Moody then began his investigation. The next day, he and Begbie were invited to a 

minersô meeting.128 

                                                           
127 Whannell to Douglas, 31 December 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F1854. 
128 This account of the ñMcGowan Warò is primarily based on that of Hauka, McGowanôs War, 134-145 and Akrigg 

and Akrigg, British Columbia Chronicle, 1847-1871, 146-153, as well as on newspaper accounts. A detailed account 

is also found in Begbie to Douglas, 3 February 1859, BCA, GR 1372, F142a. For the assault on Isaac Dixon and 

subsequent events see ñThe Hillôs Bar Difficulties,ò The Victoria Gazette, 15 January 1859. For Whannellôs desperate 

letter to Douglas see Whannell to Douglas, 31 December 1858, BCA, GR 1372, F1854.  
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In a crowded hall in Yale, the miners formed a committee and produced a prepared 

statement which they presented to Colonel Moody and Judge Begbie. They expressed their loyalty 

to Governor Douglasô Government and their belief that he was acting with honest and good 

intentions. They expressed their desire to follow the law and aid in the execution of the law. And 

they expressed their regret on having heard false reports that their community had taken up arms 

against the Government. The miners clearly condemned Justice Whannell describing him as 

completely unfit for his position and requesting that he be removed from his office. They expressed 

their strong support for Commissioner Hicks.129 

In Begbieôs account of the meeting, the majority of those in attendance were from Hillôs 

Bar. He favorably noted the expressions of loyalty towards the Government and the Committeeôs 

expressed desire to aid in the administration of the law. He interpreted the meeting as an attack 

against Whannell and was surprised by the minersô support for Hicks. He speculated that, if there 

had been armed resistance, he estimated that two hundred loyal men could potentially have been 

raised from the mining population on the lower parts of the river.130 

In the month that followed, Moody finished his investigation. Begbie provided a report to 

Governor Douglas. Like the minersô committee, he recommended that Justice Whannell be 

dismissed. Unlike the committee, he recommended that Commissioner Hicks also be dismissed 

and suggested that criminal proceedings should be brought against him. After reviewing what took 

place, Ned McGowanôs arrest of Justice Whannell was, in a strict sense, considered a legal action 

because it had been done while McGowan was sworn in as Justice Perrierôs special constable. In 

                                                           
129 ñReport of a Meeting Respecting J.P. Whannell, Meeting at Yale, 18 Jan. 1859,ò BCA, GR 1372, F1343. 
130 Begbie to Douglas, Fort Yale, 18 January 1859, BCA, GR 1372, File 142a. 
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Begbieôs view, the whole affair demonstrated the need to develop the Colonyôs law on the subjects 

of jurisdictions, the powers of officials, and the criminal law.131 

Hicks was dismissed and there was an official inquiry into his conduct by the recently 

nominated Police Commissioner Chartres Brew.132 Brew became aware of allegations that Hicks 

had used his public office to obtain a half-interest in a saw-mill operation. Hicks had then allegedly 

refused to grant licenses that would allow others from developing saw-mills. Similarly, Hicks was 

also alleged to have used his office to obtain a partial interest in a business that was granted the 

only liquor license in town. He then allegedly refused to grant liquor licenses to others, creating a 

monopoly. In addition, it was also reported that Hicks had failed to take action when alerted that 

an officer had attempted to extort $500 from an imprisoned man facing a murder charge.  Finally, 

there were reports of Hicks being drunk and disorderly in public.133 

 

When miners came to British Columbia from California they brought their mining expertise and 

their legal customs with them. Miners used minersô meetings along the lower Fraser River much 

as they had done in California. They created their own mining regulations and attempted to police 

the actions of their fellow miners. The Colonial Government, in turn, was influenced by the law 

created by minersô meetings and the common practices of miners. In reflection of this, Governor 

Douglas changed the claim sizes outlined by his formal regulations after having visited the mines 

                                                           
131 Begbie to Douglas, 3 February 1859, BCA, GR 1372, F142a.  
132 Hicks was removed from his post as of 20 February 1859. Brew to Moody, 20 February 1859, BCA, GR 1372, 

F186. 
133 Letters detailing specific charges about Hicksô professional and private behavior can be found in Howay, The Early 

History of the Fraser River Mines, 73-76. No charges were made against Hicks. He was dismissed from his position. 

The former Mrs. Hicks later reported to Bishop George Hills that Richard Hicks had made $5000 by misappropriating 

public money while in office. ñA Roadside Hut,ò entry for 25 June 1860 in No Better Land: The 1860 Diaries of the 

Anglican Colonial Bishop George Hills, ed. Roberta L. Bagshaw, 158 (Victoria: Sono Nis Press, 1996). 
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and after having seen the minersô practices. By signaling that he was willing to recognize and work 

with the mining community, Governor Douglas decreased the chances of outright resistance. 

During the Canyon War, when violent conflict broke out between miners and aboriginal 

people, miners used minersô meetings as an organizing method. As has been identified by Herbert, 

white miners used their political practices as a way of asserting dominance over aboriginal and 

Chinese people.134 During this event, self-organizing groups of miners assumed powers normally 

reserved for sovereign states: the power to make peace and war. Companies were formed and 

military excursions were made against aboriginal people who were, at least nominally, British 

subjects. Miners knew their actions were potentially illegal and being reported on. They knew the 

colonial Government would likely not approve of their actions and so they preemptively 

constructed arguments to defend themselves. It is therefore likely that minersô meetings were used 

by companies of miners, purposely, as a way of dispersing the responsibility for legally 

questionable behavior amongst the community at large. In this way, miners attempted to protect 

themselves against any potential liability.135  

Following the Canyon War, Governor Douglas attempted to establish Government 

administration over the mining community. He nominated officials from the mining population 

but their conduct quickly fell under scrutiny. Some miners took a dislike to Commissioner Hicks 

and used minersô meetings to protest his administration. They consistently accused Hicks of 

corruption and incompetence and lobbied the Government to have him removed from office. When 

McGowanôs War unfolded as the result of a conflict between inexperienced officialsða conflict 

that was exacerbated by the mining communityðthe military intervened. In reaction, a minersô 

meeting was staged to lobby against Justice Whannell, blame him for the incident, and have him 

                                                           
134 Herbert, ñWhite Power, Yellow Gold,ò 35.  
135 This function of minersô meetings has been identified by Stone, ñMounties as Vigilantes,ò 94-95.   
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removed from office. Minersô meetings were a flexible political practice that adapted to 

circumstances in British Columbia. Rather than taking on the responsibility of government, miners 

used the practice to influence the Colonial Government.136  

During the Fraser River gold rush, the mining population consistently turned to its own 

practices of self-regulation, self-government, and self-protection all while making considerable 

efforts to influence the Colonial Governor. The mining community remained consistently 

politically active throughout this time period. In recognition of the influence wielded by this 

community, one of the first major pieces of legislation produced by the Government, The Gold 

Fields Act, 1859, was as much about gold mining as it was about political power and jurisdiction. 

This document drew a line, recognizing and allowing for the mining communityôs influence over 

the gold mining law while limiting its influence over civil and criminal matters. The act allowed 

for the mining community to shape the mining law through an elected committee, the Mining 

Board. The creation of this institution opened the door for direct dialogue between the mining 

community and the Government on the subject of the mining laws.  

 

  

                                                           
136 Jan Nicholson has noted that in California minersô meetings took on the responsibility of governing whereas in 

the British Colonies minersô meetings were more often used to influence the Government. Nicholson, ñProcedures 

and Perceptions of Authority,ò 396-397. 
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Chapter 2  

From Minersô Meetings to Mining Boards 

The gold rush to the lower Fraser had been a disappointment. Many miners left the country 

immediately afterwards. But others who remained followed the Fraser River north, reasoning that 

the source of the fine gold must be upstream. By June of 1859 news of gold discoveries was 

reported in the southern newspapers. Gold in paying quantities had reportedly been found on the 

Quesnel River, above the junction with the Fraser near the Hudsonôs Bay Companyôs Fort 

Alexandria. Another river, about 100 miles above the junction between the Fraser River and the 

Quesnel River was also reportedly very rich in gold.137 While exciting news, the Weekly Victoria 

Gazette cautioned readers to wait for more reliable information before making the trip to the upper 

country.138 

There was very little reliable information about ñthe upper countryò, around Fort 

Alexandria, where no government authorities had yet been stationed. One of the first official 

reports came from Gold Commissioner Elwyn, stationed over a hundred miles to the south in 

Cayoosh District, who had heard from travelers passing south that white miners up country were 

obstructing Chinese from working on the Quesnel River.139 

News remained scarce until September when a man named Underhill provided a more 

detailed account to the Victoria Gazette. He had been in the upper country during the late-spring 

and estimated there were about 2500 men working in the area. The river was only workable during 

the months of April and May, after which the water became too high. In his view, the areaôs 

                                                           
137 ñThe Discoveries above Fort Alexander,ò The Victoria Gazette, 16 July 1859. The newspapers mistakenly refer to 

the HBC Fort Alexandria as Fort Alexander. 
138 ñThe Fort Alexander Diggings,ò The Weekly Victoria Gazette, 27 August 1859.  
139 Elwyn to Colonial Secretary, 23 July 1859, BCA, GR 1372, F524. 



 

55 

 

prospects were exceptionally good. Many miners were making two ounces of gold per day. All of 

the diggings discovered up to that point were ñwet diggingsò or placer deposits in gravel beds. No 

dry diggings had been found which sustained the belief that the source of downstream deposits 

had not yet been discovered.140 

Upon his own initiative, Elwyn made the journey from Cayoosh District to the upper 

country in the late-season and reported his findings to the Colonial Secretary. He left Cayoosh 

with Captain Franklyn on Aug. 31st, arriving at Fort Alexandria on Sept. 7th. From reports given 

by the miners he met along the Quesnel River, he believed that river to be very rich in gold. While 

miners were doing well, he felt that many would soon be travelling south to work on the lower 

Fraser during the winter. He spoke with some who had travelled further north, within twenty-five 

miles of Fort George, and who had found gold in paying quantities between that place and Fort 

Alexandria. He further reported that provisions were scarce up country and that lack of provisions 

would drive some south.141 

During the fall of 1859, the press continued to report on the upper country. Returning 

miners reported that men working in the upper country live in ñtents and brush houses.ò There was 

little demand for quicksilver, meaning that the gold up north was coarse which seemed to suggest 

that Fort Alexander might be near the source of the downstream placer deposits. The number of 

miners in the region was difficult to estimate but a quarter million pounds of provisions had 

recently been packed to the upper country which spoke to the gathering of a sizable population.142 

                                                           
140 ñThe Quesnel River Diggings,ò The Victoria Gazette, 6 September 1859.  
141 Elwyn to Colonial Secretary, 20 September 1859, BCA, GR 1372, F524. At the bottom of Elwynôs report is a draft 

reply stating that the report had been sent to the Governor but reminding him that, while the report is interesting, 

officers must not abandon their posts to go on expeditions without permission, except under exceptional 

circumstances.  
142 ñLetter from Yale,ò The Victoria Gazette, 15 October 1859.  
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A little settlement was born on Keithley Creek. The British Colonist reported that 

ñ[g]ambling halls are in full blast at the Forks of Quesnelle, and on Keithleyôs and Harveyôs 

Creeks.ò143 Miners were settling in for the winter but there was little in the way of government 

representation. In the upper country, they governed themselves.  

 

In Colonial British Columbia, the Government and its representatives had limited to no practical 

influence over the application of the law on the prospecting frontier ï where miners explored for 

new discoveries. Gold Commissioners tended to be nominated to districts after gold rushes took 

place and after the basic elements of social organization had already been established. Prior to the 

arrival of Gold Commissioners, Constables, and other officials, miners governed themselves on 

the prospecting frontier according to customary practices of social organization, the basis of which 

was the minersô meeting.  

When gold rushes took place, such as they did in Rock Creek, Cariboo, and Wild Horse 

Creek, population concentrated in small areas and rudimentary laws were relied on according to 

customary practices. But even after a gold rush had taken place and small settlements had 

developed it still took the Government more than a season in some cases, as in the case of the 

Cariboo, to react and station an official to the new mining district. Even after an official had been 

stationed, customary practices continued to prevail, sometimes flying in the face of the formal law. 

In other words, despite the formalization and elaboration of the gold mining law, there were still 

specific examples of customary law being used on the frontier, i.e. despite the existence of an 

official formal law on gold mining, it wasnôt necessarily applied.  

                                                           
143 Ormsby, British Columbia, 182 and ñArrival of the Otter: Encouraging Mining News,ò The British Colonist, 26 

October 1860.  
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The Government proved intent on establishing a universal system of formal gold mining 

law. In the summer of 1859 The Gold Fields Act was passed into law. It was quickly followed by 

new Rules and Regulations for gold mining. But despite this new and more comprehensive law, 

miners still felt it wanting. It was not adapted to new types of gold diggings like the tunnel diggings 

found in the Cariboo. So as they had done during the Fraser River gold rush of 1858 miners used 

minersô meetings and passed resolutions to get the attention of the Government in order to adapt 

the laws. And, the Government proved receptive to the mining populationôs suggestions, when it 

came to revising the law. Minersô meetings held to petition the Government to change the mining 

law led to the establishment of the first Mining Boards.  

Historians of British Columbia have paid little if any attention at all to the role of Mining 

Boards in colonial society. Oddly, while this is the case, the existence of Mining Boards, allowed 

for by The Gold Fields Act, 1859, has long been pointed to as the explanation for the absence of 

minersô meetings and customary mining law in Colonial British Columbia.144 But a close review 

of the history of minersô meetings and Mining Boards in the time period following the Fraser River 

gold rush throws this explanation into question. In fact, minersô meetings and customary mining 

practices continued to persist in Colonial British Columbia long after the passing of The Gold 

Fields Act, 1859 which allowed for the creation of Mining Boards. Minersô meetings persisted 

most frequently on the prospecting frontier but they also continued to be used as a political practice 

in more developed regions, i.e. regions with Gold Commissioners and formal government 

representatives; adapting to changing political conditions, in these new circumstances, minersô 

meetings were used as a political strategy to influence the decisions of Government.  

                                                           
144 For a discussion of the historiography on the subject of minersô meetings and Mining Boards see the Introduction. 
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Mining Boards were later established but were created for very specific purposes that did 

not necessarily overlap with the functions previously performed by minersô meetings. The changes 

suggested by the 1863 Mining Board were with a view to the technical and capital exploitation the 

Cariboo diggings. The Board sought to remove barriers to capital and create legal systems through 

which it could be invested. It sought to allow for legal partnerships that would facilitate more 

capital intensive and technical mining operations. The 1864 Mining Board was concerned with the 

rationalization of the existing gold fields law. The work of these two Mining Boardsô coincided 

with the Governmentôs agenda and they entered into a dialogue with the goal of advancing the 

material and economic development of the colony. 

 

During the summer of 1859, a Reform League was created in New Westminster, the new capital 

of the colony. This league was principally concerned with the development of a liberal land policy 

and made recommendations to the Government to that end but it also touched on other matters. 

The league reported that many miners were dissatisfied with the current system of taxation, i.e. the 

mining license fee, and suggested that miners be consulted on the creation of a better system. In 

addition, in the leagueôs opinion all the mining laws relating to ñClaimsò and ñDitchesò should be 

revised completely. The committee encouraged the people of ñHope, Yale, Douglas, and other 

Mining Townsò to express their views on these matters by passing resolutions at public 

meetings.145 

The existing formal mining laws were far from comprehensive. They had been comprised 

of a Proclamation and Regulations issued by Governor Douglas prior to the legal establishment of 

                                                           
145 ñPetition, Liberal Land Systemò 20 July 1859, BCA, GR 1372, F1343, Petitions. See also ñImportant Meeting at 

the Capital of British Columbia,ò The British Colonist, 15 July 1859, ñReform League,ò The British Colonist, 27 July 

1859, and ñReport of the Committee,ò The British Colonist, 27 July 1859. 
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the colony but, at the time of their creation, Douglas had no jurisdiction to create those laws. In 

February 1859 the first properly ñlegalò mining law was passed, establishing the minersô license 

fee, but no formal mining law existed beyond this.146 In order to clear the slate, the Licenses Act, 

1859 repealed all existing mining laws, and a comprehensive revision of the mining laws was 

prepared based on the New Zealand mining laws, with some modifications.147 The Gold Fieldôs 

Act, 1859, issued under the public seal by Governor Douglas on August 31st, was an act concerned 

with jurisdiction ï defining the powers, rights, and responsibilities of the Government, Free 

Miners, Registered Miners, Gold Commissioners, and Mining Boards.  

According to the act, to become a Free Miner, a person had to purchase a Free Minerôs 

certificate from a Gold Commissioner, Assistant Gold Commissioner, or Justice of the Peace. The 

certificate was good for one calendar year.148 To become a Registered Free Miner, a Free Miner 

had to take possession of a claim and register that claim with the Gold Commissioner by making 

a payment of four shillings and providing details including the claim name and number. Claim 

registration was good for one year.149 The Free Miner was required to produce his certificate upon 

request.150 

By purchasing the certificate, the Free Miner had the right to enter the ñwaste landò of the 

Crown and mine. He had the right to register claims and thereby become a Registered Free Miner 

                                                           
146 Duties payable by Miners, Traders, &c., 8 February 1859, in List of proclamations for 1858, 1859, 1860, 1861, 

1862, 1863, and 1864 [also 1865] was the first legal proclamation related to mining issued by the Government. As 

discussed in Chapter One, prior to this, Proclamations and Regulations had been declared but without any legal basis. 
147 For the act that repealed all previous mining law see the Licenses Act, 1859, 31 August 1859, in List of 

proclamations for 1858, 1859, 1860, 1861, 1862, 1863, and 1864 [also 1865]. For Begbieôs comment that The Gold 

Fields Act, 1859 was based on the New Zealand law see Begbie to Douglas, 30 April 1860, BCA, GR 1372, F142c. 
148 The Gold Field's Act, 1859, Clauses III and IV, in List of proclamations for 1858, 1859, 1860, 1861, 1862, 1863, 

and 1864 [also 1865]. 
149 Ibid., Clause VI. 
150 Ibid., Clause IV. 
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who had the exclusive right to the soil and gold within the limits of his claim.151 He had the right 

to appeal certain criminal and civil decisions, made by the Gold Commissioner, to the Assize or 

Appeal court.152 

According to the act, Gold Commissioners were appointed by the Governor.153 Gold 

Commissioners were responsible for producing minerôs certificates,154 collecting fees, and keeping 

records of claims.155 They were also required to produce and make publically available lists of all 

Free Miners and Registered Free Miners on an annual basis.156 They were responsible for settling 

suits related to Gold Mining but also could preside over regular civil and criminal disputes in their 

jurisdiction. They reported to the Supreme Court Judge as well as the Colonial Secretary and 

oversaw the local Mining Board. 

Gold Commissioners had jurisdiction over all disputes irrespective of value, except in cases 

of partnerships with value of greater than £200. They could dissolve partnerships with a total value 

less than £200.157 In cases under their jurisdiction, they were the sole judge of law and fact.158 

They could bind over witnesses to attend hearings or give evidence.159 They could compel 

attendance of individuals at hearings or production of related documents.160 They had summary 

powers of decision and could collect costs of court.161 

                                                           
151 Ibid., Clauses V, VI, and VII.  
152 Ibid., Clauses XVIII, XIX, and XX.  
153 Ibid., Clause II.  
154 Ibid., Clause III.  
155 Ibid., Clause VI. 
156 Ibid., Clause IX. 
157 Ibid., Clause XXV. 
158 Ibid., Clause XXII. 
159 Ibid., Clause XVII. 
160 Ibid., Clause XXIII. 
161 Ibid., Clause XXVI. 
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In addition to the powers extended to them in their capacity as Gold Commissioners, these 

officials had the same powers as Justices of the Peace.162 They had jurisdiction over criminal and 

civil disputes with value less than £20.163 And, if directed by a higher court, they could pass 

judgment in cases less than £50.164  

To create a Mining Board, one hundred and one Registered Free Miners in one district had 

to submit a petition to the Gold Commissioner.165 Any Board was made up of six to twelve 

members, decided by election. In a district with one hundred and fifty voters there would be six 

Board members and for each additional fifty voters one Board member would be added to a 

maximum of twelve. Voters had to be Registered Free Miners and votes had to be given in person 

by word of mouth. The Gold Commissioner decided the day of the election and collected the 

votes.166  

Once the Board was elected, the Gold Commissioner had broad oversight over its 

proceedings. A minimum of three members were required for any decisions which could be passed 

by bare majority, if the Gold Commissioner agreed with the motion, or by two thirds of the 

members, if the Gold Commissioner disagreed.167 All votes were to be made in person and by 

word of mouth. The Gold Commissioner oversaw all business of the Mining Board from the 

frequency of meetings to the holding of elections, the location of meetings, and the disqualification 

of members.168  

                                                           
162 Ibid., Clause XV. 
163 Ibid., Clause XVIII, XIX, XX .  
164 Ibid., Clause XXI .  
165 Ibid., Clause XXIX.  
166 Ibid., Clause XXX.  
167 Ibid., Clause XXXI.  Ibid., Clause XXXV. 
168 Ibid., Clause XXXVI. 
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Mining Boards had the power to make, repeal, or adjust regulations, rules, and bylaws 

related to mining but any changes had to be approved by the Governor before having any force.169 

The Governor reserved the right to dissolve the Board. Once dissolved, all bylaws, regulations, 

etc. passed by the Mining Board remained in place unless specifically altered or repealed by the 

Governor. Once dissolved, all powers to make and repeal bylaws reverted to the Governor.170 

The Gold Fields Act, 1859 was quickly followed by the Rules and Regulations under Gold 

Fields Act, 1859 which defined the practical aspects of the mining law. The Regulations began 

with the different types and sizes of claims. The ñback lineò of bar claims was defined by the high 

water mark ï the height of the river when flooded. They measured twenty-five feet across. Their 

edges extended perpendicular from the back line down and into the center of the river. Dry 

diggings were defined as land over which flood water never extends. They were measured in 

rectangular sections of twenty-five by thirty feet. Ravines were defined as ñwater coursesò that are 

usually wet or dry. They were measured twenty-five feet along the bank of the ravine and extended 

to the opposite bank. Quartz claims were measured one hundred feet along the vein or seam of ore. 

The miner could follow the seam on or below the surface but could not extend one hundred feet 

from the vein in a lateral direction. Privileges were allowed for discoverers of new mines.171 A 

claim was considered abandoned, if not worked for seventy-two hours. Before taking possession, 

any interested parties had to make application to the Gold Commissioner.172 

Regulations were also laid out for exclusive ditch and water privileges ï for example, if a 

company or joint interest wanted to redirect water and then charge miners a fee for its use. Any 

                                                           
169 Ibid., Clause XII. Ibid., Clause XXXIV. 
170 Ibid., Clause XXXVII. 
171 Rules and Regulations under Gold Fields Act, 1859, September 7, 1859, Clauses I, II, III, and IV, in List of 

proclamations for 1858, 1859, 1860, 1861, 1862, 1863, and 1864 [also 1865].  
172 Ibid., Clauses XII.  
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application for exclusive water rights had to be made to the Gold Commissioner in writing 

describing the works planned for construction and the nature of the operation. The location of the 

ditch, including the ditch head, had to be declared.173 The amount of water to be redirected, where 

it would be distributed, as well as the intended charge for its use had to be defined. Those granted 

the privilege had to pay a monthly fee and construct the proposed works in a specified time period. 

They could not waste water and were required to supply water to all applicants fairly.174 Any one 

intending to construct a ditch or watercourse through another personôs claim was required to notify 

the claim holder in writing prior to beginning work. If no agreement could be reached, the matter 

had to be brought before the Gold Commissioner.175 

The remainder of the act was concerned with regulations for leases. Applications had to be 

made to the Gold Commissioner including a map of the land to be leased. Typically, leases were 

to be granted for no longer than ten years. Leases of dry diggings could be no larger than ten acres. 

Leases of unworked quartz veins could be up to half a mile long and worked quartz veins could be 

up to a mile and a half long. Generally, leases were not to be granted for land that was available to 

be worked by individual free miners and leases could not be granted for land that was already 

registered to free miners, without their consent. To apply for a lease, the applicant had to pay 

twenty-five pounds and mark the edges of the lease with posts extending four feet above the 

ground.176 

While much more comprehensive than any previous mining laws in British Columbia, 

these new mining laws did not satisfy all miners. Shortly after their passage, Gold Commissioner 

Elwyn, stationed in the Cayoosh Mining District, reported to the Acting Colonial Secretary that 

                                                           
173 The ditch head is the location where water first enters or is taken into the ditch. 
174 Ibid., Clauses VII to XI.  
175 Ibid., Clause XIII and XIV. 
176 Ibid., Clauses XX to XXVI. 
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local miners were not satisfied with the claim sizes allowed by the new mining laws. They 

complained that in the Cayoosh District claims measuring twenty-five feet square were not 

remunerative because the diggings were too shallow, i.e. the bedrock was close to the surface of 

the ground which meant that there was not much workable soil within a twenty-five square foot 

claim. They argued that there was so little soil within one claim that it was not worth building a 

cabin to live in or sawing wood for sluice boxes to clean the dirt.  

Elwyn reported that this situation was causing some to disregard the law: ñI fear that the 

size of claims will lend to render the law in-operative; many even prefer to work fifty feet on the 

chance of not being disturbed, to taking out a certificate and being reduced to twenty-five. Every 

person, without exception, to whom I have shown the ñRules and Regulations for the working of 

Gold Minesò has grumbled at the size of claims on Bar and Dry diggings.ò 177 

Months later, the newly created Rules and Regulations under Gold Fields Act responded 

directly to this problem. The regulations stated that in cases where ñthe pay dirt is thinò, claims 

are in small demand, or when the Commissioner determines it reasonable, miners may register two 

claims. The Gold Commissioner was also given authority to use his discretion when determining 

claim sizes.178  

During the fall of 1859 gold was discovered on the prospecting frontier in south eastern 

British Columbia just north of the border with the United States and the settlement of Colville 

Depot, Washington. A gold rush took place and, in the absence of any formal authority, miners 

created their own laws by passing resolutions at public meetings. Similar to the upper country, 

                                                           
177 Elwyn to Young, 1 November 1859. BCA, GR 1372, F524. 
178 Rules and Regulations under Gold Fields Act, January 6, 1860, in List of proclamations for 1858, 1859, 1860, 

1861, 1862, 1863, and 1864 [also 1865]. 
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there were reports that Chinese people were excluded from digging for gold in the area. The 

settlement was supplied from the United States.179 

Having received reports of disorder at Rock Creek, Governor Douglas included the 

settlement in part of a larger tour of the mining districts during the summer of 1860. As he reported 

to Newcastle at the Colonial Office, he met with William George Cox, the Revenue Officer for the 

southern frontier, before arriving at Rock Creek. The town was made up of fifteen houses and 

approximately five hundred miners were living and working in the area. Upon his arrival Douglas 

addressed the assembled population, speaking about the mining regulations and ñespecially 

directing their attention to that Section of the Act which provides for the establishment of Mining 

Boards, with powers to frame Bye-Laws adapted to the circumstances of each District; or in other 

words, investing the Miners themselves with full powers to amend their own laws.ò Also during 

his speech, Douglas underlined the liberal nature of the Governmentôs pre-emption laws, making 

it clear that it was the Governmentôs intention to encourage and support settlement. Cox was 

nominated as Justice of the Peace and Assistant Gold Commissioner for the District.180 

But despite Commissioner Coxôs presence, minersô meetings persisted as a method of 

settling disputes. In fact, Cox used the practice himself, holding ñmeeting of miners & tradersò in 

order to arrange for the application of water rights in a public fashion, a method which seemed to 

satisfy all interested parties.181 In October of that same year, it was reported in the British Colonist 

                                                           
179 Conditions at Rock Creek were recorded by Charles Wilson, Secretary of the British Boundary Commission, who 

was a member of a party surveying the 49th parallel. Entry for 30 August 1859 in Mapping the Frontier: Charles 

Wilsonôs Diary of the Survey of the 49th Parallel, 1858-1862, while Secretary of the British Boundary Commission, 

ed. George F. C. Stanley, 108, n. 6., 126 (Toronto: Macmillan of Canada, 1970). The Rock Creek diggings were 

discovered in October, 1859. Douglas to Newcastle, 25 October 1860, TNA, 85, CO 60/8. See also Akrigg and Akrigg, 

British Columbia Chronicle, 1847-1871, 164, 194-195.   
180 Douglas to Newcastle, 25 October 1860, TNA, 85, CO 60/8. See also Akrigg and Akrigg, British Columbia 

Chronicle, 1847-1871, 164, 194-195, 197, 198, 313.  
181 Cox to Young, 7 October 1860, BCA, GR 1372, F374.   
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that a minersô meeting was held in the District to resolve a dispute between two claim owners 

when one sought to construct a water channel through the otherôs claim to transport tailings, i.e. 

waste rock from mining.182 Even much later, the practice of minersô meetings persisted in the 

district. A Customs Agent named William Young recorded that, owing to the absence of any 

official in the region, miners held a meeting for the purpose of recording claims. Money was 

collected to be handed over to a government officer at some future date.183 

During the summer of 1860, the upper country around Quesnel River was still out of 

practical administrative reach of the Government. When a man at Fort Alexandria named Learry 

shot another named Simmons, mortally wounding him, the people residing near the Fort took 

matters into their own hands. They captured and secured Learry and sent an eye-witness south to 

Commissioner Elwyn in the Cayoosh District for assistance. Upon hearing the news, Elwyn sent 

a Constable north with a warrant. He then reported to the Colonial Secretary that he had received 

numerous reports of lawlessness in the upper country. He had also received reports that most 

people in the area were Americans and they are creating laws in their own interests.184 

By August, Governor Douglas had appointed Philip Henry Nind as Assistant Gold 

Commissioner for the upper country. He was tasked with establishing a police station at 

Alexandria, ñfor the maintenance of peace and orderò,185 but, instead, Nind and his Constable, 

William Pinchbeck, established their headquarters far to the south of Alexandria at Williams Lake 

because it lay at the intersection of pack trails from the Douglas Road and the Fraser Canyon.186 

                                                           
182 The proposed channel, referred to as a ñtailraceò, was for moving tailings or waste rock from mining. ñNews from 

the River,ò The British Colonist, 16 October 1860.  
183 Young to Haynes, 12 December 1863, BCA, GR 1372, F740. 
184 Elwyn to Colonial Secretary, 2 July 1860, BCA, GR 1372, F524. The constable was not able to catch the man 

accused of the assault. The residents of Fort Alexandria had released the accused, not knowing how to proceed. Elwyn 

to Colonial Secretary, 28 July 1860, BCA, GR 1372, F524.  
185 Douglas to Newcastle, 16 August 1860, TNA, 9596, CO 60/8. 
186 Nind to Colonial Secretary, 17 October 1860, BCA, GR 216, Vol 9. 
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Figure 1 Map showing carriage roads as well as large distance between Victoria and Quesnel. British Columbia,  
showing carriage roads completed, in progress, and proposed. 1862. (Detail).  

Reproduced with Permission from the National Archives of the UK. 
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On September 20th, Nind and Pinchbeck left Williams Lake to tour the gold mines. They 

travelled along the Alexandria Trail to Mud Lake and then turned eastwards. The last part of the 

trail from Mud Lake to the Quesnel Forks was very bad; ñthe country assumes a wild and 

unpromising aspect comprises thick forests of stunted pines impervious to the sun and filled with 

stagnant swamps, miles of burnt timber, the trunks of some trees still upright, but the greater part 

covering the ground in complicated confusion.ò Finally, after making their way down a 

ñprecipitous hill,ò they arrived in Quesnel Forks where they found seventeen inhabited houses and 

three or four tents on a triangular flat formed by the junction of two branches of the Quesnel River. 

They then left for Keithley Creek on the 25th, following the ñnorthò arm of the Quesnel River along 

ña trail of the worst description.ò187  

Keithleyôs Creek was described as a ñgood sizedò stream between high timbered banks. 

The volume of water fluctuated dramatically, sometimes doubling in a few hours due to freshets 

which damaged minersô works. The Creek emptied into the Cariboo Lake. Nind was impressed 

with the minersô constructions. They had made ñwaterwheels, pumps, flumes, and other 

machineryé lying in the natural bed of the streamò. Wing dams directed and confined the water. 

They had built tunnels running perpendicular into the hillsides, some of which had been successful 

and others which had been abandoned. Others had diverted streams to wash entire hillsides of 

gravel. There were about thirty to forty men on the creek. A few stores had been built.188 

Nind and Pinchbeck then headed downstream to the south fork of the Quesnelle River. On 

Roseôs Bar and French Bar he met miners and issued them mining certificates. Passing the mouth 

of Quesnelle Lake, he viewed a large ñIndian fishing encampment that seemed from the quantity  

 

                                                           
187 Nind to Colonial Secretary, 9 November 1860, BCA, GR 216, Vol. 9.  
188 Ibid. 
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Figure 2 Map showing region between Mud Lake and the Forks of Quesnelle. Gold Regions of the Fraser River and Cariboo 
Country, British Columbia, from reconnaissance by the Honourable Judge Begbie, 1861. Fraser River District. (Detail). 

Reproduced with Permission from the National Archives of the UK. 
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of skins and dried meat to be a kind of depot.ò He then made his way to the south side of the 

Quesnelle River to Horse Fly Creek, before returning to Williams Lake.189 

Back in Williams Lake, Nind wrote to the Colonial Secretary about the administration of 

the mining laws because the Colonial Secretary had received many inquiries about the legal tenure 

of claims in the colony. Enclosing copies of The Gold Fields Act as well as ñMining Laws and 

Regulationsò,190 Nind pointed out that recording a claim did not make it valid if a certificate or 

other obligation was not respected. In his travels he had found that miners commonly did not 

understand that they were required to take out a Free Minerôs certificate and Register a claim in 

order to be a legal claim owner. He also pointed out that many claims in the Quesnelle and Cariboo 

area are larger than the legal size and that he had taken no action to interfere with this. Instead, he 

wrote that he would prefer the Government sanction the registration of large claims.191  

That same winter, north of Cariboo Lake and Keithley Creek, a gold rush to Antler Creek 

took place. Miners rushed to Antler and fought over the ground, many making claims to the same 

ground. As a result, an appeal was made for Nind to intervene and he set out from Williams Lake 

for Antler accompanied by a Constable and two aboriginal people. He arrived at Keithley Creek 

in early March and then travelled on to Antler where he found one log cabin inhabited by the initial 

discoverers, Rose and McDonald. The rest of the miners were living in holes which they had dug 

out of the snow that was ñbetween six and seven feet deep.ò 

There were many disputes. He stayed for six days to settle them and, according to his 

report, didnôt meet with any resistance to his authority. He explained this as stemming from the 

minersô calculating self-interest: nobody wanted to be involved in a conflict with the law and  

                                                           
189 Ibid. 
190 Itôs not clear whether Nind enclosed Rules and Regulations under Gold Fields Act, 1859, the Rules and Regulations 

under Gold Fields Act, 1859 or both. In his letter he refers to them as ñMining Laws and Regulations.ò 
191 Nind to Colonial Secretary, 5 February 1861, BCA GR 216, Vol 9.  
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Figure 3 Map showing Quesnelle Forks and Keithley Creek. Sketch of Cariboo Mines by Mr. F Black Jan. 1862. (Detail). 
Reproduced with Permission from the National Archives of the UK. 

  
















































































































































































